

FEBRUARY 2023

A Road Map For Action:

Recommendations Of The Health Affairs Council On Health Care Spending And Value

WITH SUPPORT FROM:





Health Affairs `

COUNCIL ON HEALTH CARE SPENDING & VALUE

A Road Map For Action:

Recommendations Of The Health Affairs Council On Health Care Spending And Value

The Health Affairs Council on Health Care Spending and Value is a nonpartisan, multidisciplinary, expert working group charged with recommending ways that the United States can take a deliberate approach to moderating health care spending growth while maximizing value.

COCHAIRS

William Frist, former US Senate majority leader

Margaret Hamburg, former commissioner of the Food and Drug Administration

MEMBERS

Toyin Ajayi, chief health officer and cofounder, Cityblock Health

Hassan Azar, executive advisor, Employer Health Innovation Roundtable

Tanisha Carino, partner, the Brunswick Group

John M. Colmers, vice president, Health Care Transformation and Strategic Planning, Johns Hopkins Medicine (retired)

Toby Cosgrove, executive adviser, former president and chief executive officer, Cleveland Clinic

David Cutler, Otto Eckstein Professor of Applied Economics, Harvard University

Randy DeFrehn, chief executive officer, DeFrehn and Associates LLC; former executive director, National Coordinating Committee for Multiemployer Plans

Paul J. Diaz, president and chief executive officer, Myriad Genetics, Inc.

Delvecchio Finley, president and chief executive officer, Atrium Health Navicent

Craig Garthwaite, director of health care, Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University

Sherry Glied, dean, Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service, New York University

Penny Kaye Jensen, liaison for national APRN policy, Department of Veterans Affairs

Jennifer Kowalski, vice president, Public Policy Institute, Elevance Health

Sharon Levine, vice chair, Patient Centered Outcomes Research Institute

George Miller, institute fellow, Altarum Center for Value in Health Care

John O'Brien, president and chief executive officer, National Pharmaceutical Council

Mark Pauly, professor emeritus, Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania

L. Wade Rose, senior advisor to the chief executive officer, CommonSpirit Health (retired)

Nora Wells, executive director, Family Voices

STAFF

Laura Tollen, director, Health Affairs Council on Health Care Spending and Value; senior editor, *Health Affairs*

Elizabeth Keating, consultant, Health Affairs Council on Health Care Spending and Value

ADVISER

Alan Weil, editor-in-chief, Health Affairs

FORMER MEMBERS

Robert W. Dubois, executive vice president and chief science officer, National Pharmaceutical Council (retired)

Stephen Friedhoff, former chief medical officer, Anthem, Inc.

About Health Affairs

Health Affairs is the leading peer-reviewed journal at the intersection of health, health care, and policy. Published monthly by Project HOPE, Health Affairs is available in print and online. Latebreaking content is also found through healthaffairs.org, Health Affairs Today, and Health Affairs Sunday Update. Project HOPE, a global health and humanitarian relief organization that places power in the hands of local health care workers, saving lives across the globe, has published Health Affairs since 1981.

Acknowledgments

The council gratefully acknowledges the support of the following individuals, whose assistance does not imply their endorsement of the report's findings.

Joseph Antos, senior fellow and Wilson H. Taylor Scholar in Health Care and Retirement Policy, American Enterprise Institute

Laurence Baker, professor, Health Policy, Stanford School of Medicine; senior fellow, Stanford Institute for Economic Policy Research

Sarah Bartelmann, cost growth target program manager, Oregon Health Authority

Robyn Begley, chief executive officer, American Organization for Nursing Leadership; chief nursing officer, American Hospital Association

Robert Berenson, senior fellow, Urban Institute

William Bleser, assistant research director of health care transformation for population health, social needs, and health equity, Duke-Margolis Center for Health Policy

Rachel Block, program officer, Milbank Memorial Fund

Debbie Boylan, director of events, Health Affairs

Lawrence Casalino, Livington Farrand Professor, Department of Healthcare Policy and Research, Weill Cornell Medical College

Michael Chernew, Leonard D. Schaeffer Professor of Health Care Policy, Harvard Medical School

Carrie Colla, professor, Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy

Joshua Ewing, vice president of legislative affairs, Colorado Hospital Association

Claire Ewing-Nelson, editorial consultant, Health Affairs

Bianca Frogner, director, Center for Health Workforce Studies, University of Washington; member, Washington Health Care Cost Transparency Board

Anders Gilberg, senior vice president for government affairs, Medical Group Management Association

Tina Grande, executive vice president for policy, the Healthcare Leadership Council

Grace Kim, doctoral candidate, Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service, New York University

Rob Lott, deputy editor for special content, Health Affairs

Julianne McGarry, director of projects and research, Catalyst for Payment Reform

Renee McLaughlin, national medical director for value-based relationships, Cigna; chair of AHIP Value-Based Care Workgroup

Gregg Meyer, president of the Community Division and executive vice president of value based care, Mass General Brigham

Farzad Mostashari, cofounder and chief executive officer, Aledade

Kavita Patel, managing director of clinical transformation, Center for Health Policy, Brookings

Rocco Perla, cofounder, The Health Initiative

Robert Saunders, senior research director, health care transformation, Duke-Margolis Center for Health Policy

Richard Scheffler, director, Petris Center on Health Care Markets and Consumer Welfare, University of California Berkeley

Mohan Suntha, president and chief executive officer, University of Maryland Medical System

Robin Thomashauer, president, CAQH

Jeanette Thornton, senior vice president, product, employer, and commercial policy, AHIP

Patrick Tigue, Rhode Island Health Insurance Commissioner

Sophia Tripoli, director of health care innovation, Families USA; director, Consumer First Coalition

Reed Tuckson, Tuckson Health Connection

Brandon Wilson, director, Center for Consumer Engagement in Health Innovation, Community Catalyst

Steffie Woolhandler, distinguished professor, School of Urban Public Health, Hunter College, City University of New York

Funding

The Council on Health Care Spending and Value is supported by the National Pharmaceutical Council and Elevance Health. The recommendations of the council do not necessarily reflect the views of the funders.

Disclaimer

All council members participated as individuals, rather than as representatives of the organizations with which they are affiliated or employed. Views expressed in this report do not necessarily reflect the positions of any such organization, nor do they reflect the positions of Health Affairs or Project HOPE.

Additional Information

Copyright © 2023 Project HOPE—The People-to-People Health Foundation, Inc.

DOI 10.1377/har20230111.716232

ISSN 0278-2715

eISSN 1544-5208

Health Affairs Council on Health Care Spending and Value. A road map for action: recommendations of the Health Affairs Council on Health Care Spending and Value. Health Affairs [serial on the Internet]. 2023 Feb 3. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/r/health-spending/health-affairs-spending-council-report.pdf

Production Notes

AUTHORS

Laura Tollen and Elizabeth Keating

EDITORS

Anne Hicks, Larry Wheeler, and Andrea Zuercher

DESIGN

Joan Stephens and Julia Vivalo

Table Of Contents

I. Introduction	1
A. The Health Care Spending Problem And The Council's Goal	1
B. Council Process And Areas Of Focus	2
C. What This Report Is Not	4
D. An 'Unprecedented' Context For The Council's Work	6
II. Recommendations	7
A. Administrative Streamlining	7
B. Price Regulation And Supports For Competition	11
C. Spending Growth Targets	15
D. Value-Based Payment	18
III. Putting It All Together	24
IV. Supporting Research	27
V. Appendices	28
VI. Endnotes	39

I. Introduction

For more than forty years, questions about health care spending levels and growth have been an important focus of *Health Affairs*. In the words of the journal's founding editor, John Iglehart, "From our very launch in 1981, costs and how they may be responsibly restrained have been a driving theme of Project HOPE's eclectic journal."

Recently, the journal announced a first-ofits-kind project intended to build on its rich
history of scholarship on health care spending.²
The Health Affairs Council on Health Care
Spending and Value was charged with recommending ways that the United States can take a
deliberate approach to moderating health care
spending growth while maximizing value.³ The
council is a nonpartisan, multidisciplinary,
expert working group under the leadership of
cochairs William Frist and Margaret Hamburg.

This report contains the council's recommendations and is the culmination of a multiyear process during which the twenty-two council members studied the literature and consulted with experts on drivers of US health care spending and a wide variety of proposed interventions.

This, the council's final report, accomplishes two goals: through its supporting research, it synthesizes literature about how much the US spends on health care, the value of that spending, and the likely impact of various interventions; and it provides recommendations to public and private stakeholders on how to achieve higher-value health care spending and growth in the US.

A. The Health Care Spending Problem And The Council's Goal

For decades, the level and growth of US health care spending have diverged from both international and domestic norms, leading many to characterize rising health expenditures as "unsustainable."⁴ The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) estimates that total health care spending averaged 8.8 percent of gross domestic product (GDP) among its member countries in 2019 compared with 16.8 percent in the US.⁵

In addition, health care spending growth has far outpaced growth in the US economy as a whole. Between 1970 and 2019, total US health care spending grew from 6.9 percent to 17.7 percent of GDP.^{6,7} Then, in 2020, amid unique strain on the health care system and a dramatic economic downturn due to the COVID-19 pandemic, this figure jumped to 19.7 percent of GDP, or nearly one-fifth.⁸ It remains to be seen how the pandemic will affect the long-term trajectory of health care spending.

High levels of and growth in health care spending are not, in and of themselves, problematic.

Researchers have sought to quantify the health gains resulting from increased US health care spending over time. There have been significant improvements in morbidity and mortality, particularly for specific disease categories. In addition, health care is a major driver of the US economy, accounting for twenty-two million jobs (or 14 percent of all jobs) in 2019.

However, the high level and growth rate of US health care spending raises concerns about Americans' continued ability to pay for all other goods and services at both the macro (government) and micro (employers, families) levels. This has led some experts to call for the stabilization of the rate of health care growth as a percentage of GDP.¹¹ At the same time, comparisons with health care spending in other developed nations with equal or better health outcomes¹² lead us to ask whether we could be doing much better for our money.

In addition, the current de facto distribution of health care spending by race and ethnicity¹³—a legacy of the structural marginalization of specific

populations—results in significant disparities in access to and quality of care. In fact, some research draws a connection between health inequity and excess spending driven by delayed care, access challenges, missed diagnoses, and lack of preventive services.^{14,15}

"The goal of the recommendations in this report is to achieve higher-value health care spending and growth in the US."

The US is an outlier among nations not only in how much is spent on health care but also in the absence of any mechanism to make collective decisions about what services should be covered or available and for whom, or to restrain how much is spent. Although it is unclear what percentage of GDP would represent the ideal level to devote to health care, the council believes that the current expenditure and rate of growth are higher than they should be, as they are disproportionate to the health and equity they produce and represent a significant burden on families, employers, employees, and government. The corollary is that there are likely actions that could reduce the health care spending growth rate with little effect on health or other benefits consumers value.

With all of this in mind, the goal of the recommendations in this report is to achieve higher-value health care spending and growth in the US.

The mechanism for achieving this goal involves four levers:

- price, or paying the most efficient price for care;
- volume, or ensuring the appropriate quantity of care;

- mix, or ensuring the appropriate types of services for given patients and populations; and
- growth, or growing the price and volume sustainably and maintaining an appropriate mix over time.

Collectively, recommendations must address all four levers. If they do not, then improvements in one area could be counteracted by changes in another, resulting in no change to overall spending or growth. Although no single intervention is a silver bullet, the council offers a set of recommendations that, both alone and in concert with specific existing efforts, will lead to improvements in all four areas.

B. Council Process And Areas Of Focus

The council examined literature and received input from experts regarding key drivers of US health care spending and growth. These included administrative waste, excess prices, clinical waste, regulatory burden, supply-chain profits, clinician earnings, and fraud and abuse. These factors were chosen on the basis of staff review of literature and are consistent with the way many researchers have examined health care spending drivers in the past several decades. Summaries of literature the council reviewed regarding administrative waste, excess prices, and clinical waste are available as Health Affairs Research Briefs. 16-18 A bibliography of literature the council reviewed on health care spending and growth by sector and as it relates to several additional spending drivers is included in appendix A. (Also see section IV, "Supporting Research," at the end of this report.)

The council focused on spending drivers that met the following criteria: a meaningful amount of money is potentially at stake, it is likely feasible to address the spending driver through policy intervention, and the council, drawing "The council offers recommendations in... administrative streamlining, price regulation and supports for competition, spending growth targets, and value-based payment."

on the unique expertise and perspectives of its members, can make a powerful contribution to the debate about the given spending driver.

On the basis of these criteria, the council offers recommendations in four priority areas:

- administrative streamlining,
- price regulation and supports for competition,
- spending growth targets, and
- value-based payment.

Exhibit 1 illustrates how these four sets of recommendations map to the four levers for achieving high-value spending and growth. Conceptually, it may be helpful to think of the sets of recommendations as falling into two categories: targeted interventions that pull only one or two of the levers, and systemic interventions that pull several levers at once. Both types of actions are likely needed.

Several additional points provide context about the council's process. First, multiple factors went into the recommendations, including evidence, judgment, and values. Where evidence regarding the efficacy of proposed interventions was inconclusive, the council relied on its values and judgment as a group of experts about what is most promising. In some cases, the council endorses experimentation that will help develop better evidence.

Second, the council provides a range of recommendations that are designed to be compatible with various political environments and views about the role of government.

Third, there is a significant focus on states, given the great variability in needs and

EXHIBIT 1

Levers addressed by Council on Health Care Spending and Value recommendations

	Levers to achieve high-value health care spending and growth			
Council recommendations	Price	Volume	Mix of services	Growth
Administrative streamlining	√		V	
Price regulation and supports for competition	√			
Spending growth targets	Potentially ca	n address any of these if sta	akeholders set goals around th	nem 🗸
Value-based payment	✓	√	✓	✓

SOURCE: Authors' analysis.

priorities across the country. Highly networked, multistakeholder efforts at the state level can be powerful in driving change. The council hopes to harness the power of states as policy laboratories, with the federal government providing support and coordination to facilitate states' efforts and add a sense of urgency to the process.

Fourth, the council did not focus explicitly on individual sectors of the health care ecosystem. For example, recommendations are not presented separately for physicians versus hospitals—or for providers versus payers or public versus private sectors—because of the deeply intertwined nature of spending across these categories. Although some recommendations require more significant action from some stakeholders than others, on balance, a set of interventions that involves all sectors will be most effective.

Finally, the council did not have a formal consensus process. For one set of recommendations, a minority report is provided (see recommendations C1–C4). In all other cases, readers may assume that all council members expressed at least some level of support for the recommendation (see section III, "Putting it All Together," for more details).

The recommendations are presented in a spirit of optimism and humility. The council acknowledges that the country's health care spending problems cannot be solved in a single stroke and concedes that there are several important issues in health care spending that this report does not address. Nevertheless, the extent of the problem must not lead to inaction. To paraphrase social justice advocate Arthur Ashe, stakeholders must start where they are, with the tools currently available, and move forward. ¹⁹ The council's recommendations contain a road map for doing so.

C. What This Report Is Not

The council's first task was to define its scope and to understand what issues would not be covered in depth or, in some cases, at all. In doing so, members identified three issues that are not included in this work but are nevertheless significant in health care spending. It is important to provide readers with insight into the council's decisions not to delve deeply into these three areas.

SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH

In accepting their charge, the council members first grappled with the well-established concept that health care accounts for only a small portion—perhaps only as much as one-fifth—of the modifiable contributors to health.²⁰ The rest is attributable to factors that are largely outside the control of the health care system. These are the social determinants of health (SDOH) or, in the framework of the World Health Organization, the "conditions in which people are born, grow, work, live, and age, and the wider set of forces and systems shaping the conditions of daily life...[including] economic policies and systems, development agendas, social norms, social policies and political systems."21,22

Although social determinants clearly shape health, it is less well understood how they shape health care spending. Logic suggests that more spending to address social determinants would eventually result in more efficient health care spending and slowed growth. If people were better fed, housed, and supported socially, financially, and politically, it stands to reason that health care dollars might go farther. This question is difficult to study, however, and there is limited evidence to support or rebut these assumptions. In practice, researchers have found that among OECD countries, those that spend more on social services (a very rough proxy for SDOH) also spend more on health care.23

Nevertheless, an SDOH framework has informed the careers of many of the council members. For some, there was an immediate instinct to go "upstream" in thinking about how to improve the value of health care spending. Ultimately, and with guidance from Health Affairs staff, the council decided to focus instead on spending drivers and interventions that are primarily within the health care sector, thereby drawing on the specific expertise of the council members. The council's hope is that improvements in the value proposition of the health care sector itself will lay groundwork for that sector becoming more effective at reaching beyond its walls to address SDOH.

INTERVENTIONS TO REDUCE LOW-VALUE CARE

As illustrated in exhibit 1, the council focused on four priority areas: administrative streamlining, price regulation and supports for competition, spending growth targets, and value-based payment. The group also considered a potential fifth area of focus: efforts to reduce the use of low-value care. Low-value care, also referred to as overtreatment, has been described by Donald Berwick and Andrew Hackbarth as "the waste that comes from subjecting patients to care that, according to sound science and the patients' own preferences, cannot possibly help them."24 Examples of low-value care include cervical cancer screening for women older than age sixty-five, brain computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging for uncomplicated headaches, and spinal injection for lower back pain.25 Notably, low value is not usually inherent in a given procedure but, rather, in the provision of that procedure to a specific patient who is unlikely to benefit from it because of their clinical status or other factors. Estimates of the cost of overtreatment with low-value care range from about \$76 billion to \$226 billion per year.24,26

The council does not present formal recommendations in this area but, rather, defers to the work of expert groups that have a long-standing

focus on interventions that address low-value care directly. For example, Choosing Wisely, a voluntary initiative of clinicians, identifies low-value care processes and works to reduce or eliminate their use by educating clinicians and consumers on avoiding them.²⁵ Others promote the use of benefit design to discourage use of low-value care. The council puts forth its recommendations with the assumption that these important interventions will be ongoing.

In addition, although the council does not make recommendations that address low-value care directly, its systemic recommendations have the potential to do so indirectly. Value-based payment, in particular, provides incentives for delivery systems to identify and reduce the use of low-value care. Similarly, concerted efforts to meet statewide health care spending growth targets could lead stakeholders to choose low-value care as an area of policy focus.

PHARMACEUTICAL PRICES AND SPENDING

A third and very different issue not addressed directly in this report is a detailed discussion of pharmaceutical spending. Given the dominance of pharmaceutical issues in the public policy sphere, it is important to clarify why the report does not include recommendations regarding this category of spending.

As noted, the council chose not to focus explicitly on individual sectors of the health care spending ecosystem. Pharmaceutical spending is an integral part of that ecosystem and will be affected directly and indirectly through the council's recommendations regarding administrative streamlining, prices (particularly hospital prices), target setting for overall spending growth, and value-based payment.

This does not suggest a lack of concern on the council's part about many aspects of pharmaceutical pricing and spending, including seemingly unwarranted high prices and increases in price for some vital drugs (such as insulin) and for branded specialty drugs. The council also recognizes that high-price, physician-administered specialty drugs are often a significant cost driver for hospitals and payers and a burden for patients. Nevertheless, solutions to these very specific problems go beyond the council's scope.

In addition, pharmaceutical markets behave differently from markets for most other health care services. The former are unique because competition is governed by federal patents and exclusivity periods intended to encourage innovation. Pharmaceutical markets are also affected by a complex supply chain involving manufacturers, pharmacy benefit managers, wholesalers, pharmacies, and health plans.²⁷ These markets are further complicated by significant consolidation in the supply chain (with the top three pharmacy benefit managers controlling more than 75 percent of the market nationwide, by some estimates²⁸) and contracting practices that are opaque. Accordingly, a detailed set of recommendations about these very specialized markets was also beyond the council's scope.

However, the council acknowledges the critical importance of additional work to understand the causes, benefits, and consequences of increased spending on pharmaceuticals. The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, containing major provisions related to pharmaceutical pricing, had been signed into law but not yet implemented as the council completed its work. Without taking a position on that law, the council notes that its rollout, particularly the provision allowing Medicare to negotiate prices for specific drugs, will provide important evidence regarding market interventions intended to reduce pharmaceutical spending. The council looks to the research community to explore key questions such as the law's impact on drug prices in Medicare and commercial markets and whether savings will be passed through to patients.

D. An 'Unprecedented' Context For The Council's Work

The council's work began just before the start of the COVID-19 pandemic and concluded as the public health emergency entered its third year. These circumstances changed the council's process but not its fundamental goal, which remained to achieve higher-value health care spending and growth in the US. However, the pandemic did have profound effects on the policy environment into which the recommendations would eventually be introduced.

First, the pandemic shone a harsh light on persistent inequities in health care access and delivery and how lack of attention to SDOH can enhance these inequities and their attendant costs. The council's work also took place during a time of increasing racial unrest in the US, spurred by events such as the killings of Eric Garner and George Floyd, heightening the public's and policy makers' understanding that systemic racism is embedded in major institutions, including health care.²⁹ These events have highlighted the critical importance of applying an equity lens to evaluate all potential interventions presented by the council.

Second, the pandemic revealed significant stakeholder willingness to spend more on health care when the value feels incontrovertible, suggesting that a council seeking to moderate spending growth was "in the right place at the wrong time." However, recent projections from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) indicate that, despite a few anomalous years of spending related to the pandemic, the trajectory has not changed significantly.³⁰ Concerns about rising costs of employer-based coverage, patients' out-of-pocket spending, inflation, and the expected 2028 insolvency of the Medicare Part A Trust Fund remain.31 Furthermore, the pandemic arguably lent more urgency to the call to shift spending away from fee-for-service payment, a model that was

challenged to support the health care delivery system during the public health emergency.

Third, COVID-19 resulted in significant attention at all levels of government to earning and keeping public trust. Whether deserved or not, many early public responses to COVID-19 created distrust in public institutions. At the same time, these responses brought to light (for many) the critical role and power of state- and local-level policy making.

Fourth, the pandemic exacerbated chronic health care staffing shortages and contributed to rising wages, both of which will shape the feasibility of spending-related interventions in the future. According to an October 2021 survey, nearly one in five health care workers had quit their jobs since mid-February 2020, although this does not necessarily mean that they had left health care.32 More recent data suggest that the overall health care workforce is down 2.7 percent from February 2020, which is a substantial reduction, and it is unclear when or whether this trend will reverse.³³ The pandemic has also taken a heavy toll on health care workers' mental health, and there is growing awareness of the risk among clinicians of dying by suicide and of facing depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress disorder. 34,35

Although the council does not offer specific recommendations to address each of these factors, a desire to see improvement (or, at a minimum, to "do no harm") in these areas guided the council's choices about high-priority areas for intervention. In addition, these considerations must be placed at the center of implementation efforts related to the council's recommendations.

Finally, and on a more positive note, the pandemic experience has demonstrated that the health care system can change rapidly, despite perceptions to the contrary. Perhaps the most striking example of this rapid change is the pivot to telehealth. This extraordinary shift was

made possible not only by health care institutions moving resources and changing priorities but also by the rapid loosening of regulatory restrictions that had previously limited the spread of this modality. The pandemic response also led to closer coordination between public health agencies and health care systems, including improved data sharing. This flexibility and quick response by health systems and policy makers bodes well for future willingness to implement change when a crisis is perceived.

II. Recommendations

The council offers recommendations in four priority areas:

- administrative streamlining,
- price regulation and supports for competition,
- spending growth targets, and
- value-based payment.

Individual recommendations are listed in exhibit 2 and discussed in detail in the sections that follow. There are synergies among the recommendations, so that some smaller-benefit solutions may produce a greater impact in combination with others.

A. Administrative Streamlining

Administrative waste is a meaningful detractor from health care value, accounting for several hundred billion dollars per year. ³⁶⁻³⁸ These dollars could likely be better spent on improved health care access or quality or even in another sector of the economy altogether.

Experts have been working to reduce health care administrative waste for decades, with limited success. However, now may be a uniquely relevant time to consider reforms in this area. The COVID-19 pandemic has arguably increased all stakeholders' level of comfort

EXHIBIT 2

Council on Health Care Spending and Value recommendations to achieve highervalue health care spending and growth in the US

Administrative streamlining

A1: Standardization of four key "between" and "seismic" processes

A2: Longer-run harmonization of quality measures

Price regulation and supports for competition

B1: Increased state and federal monitoring of market competitiveness and scrutiny of proposed mergers

B2: Limited price regulation in markets that cannot be competitive

B3: Performance improvement plans and conditional price regulation in markets that could potentially be competitive

B4: Additional supports for competition in markets that are currently competitive

Spending growth targets

C1: Data-supported spending growth target setting

C2: Data-supported monitoring of spending growth

C3: Data-supported enforcement of spending growth targets

C4: Federal support for data infrastructure

Value-based payment

D1: Continued evolution of value-based payment models

SOURCE: Authors' analysis.

with digital tools, and automated technology is improving rapidly. The pandemic has also demonstrated that many processes previously considered to be impossible (for example, making a vaccine available for a novel disease in less than a year) are, in fact, possible. The council, therefore, believes that there is reason for optimism in this area now.

Estimates of US administrative spending range from about 15 percent to more than 30 percent of total national health spending.³⁹ However, experts estimate that at least half of administrative spending is ineffective or wasteful.³⁶⁻³⁸ Accordingly, 7.5–15 percent of national health spending is likely administrative waste.⁴⁰ A summary of literature the council reviewed regarding administrative spending and waste is available as a Health Affairs Research Brief (also

see section IV, "Supporting Research," at the end of this report).¹⁶

The council's goal is not to reduce administrative spending to a level comparable to those of peer nations with single-payer systems. Researchers have estimated that if the US had a Canadian-style single-payer system, administrative spending could be reduced by more than \$600 billion, or about 17 percent of national health spending at the time of the study.³⁶ Another study suggests that from one-third to one-half of billing- and insurance-related costs could be eliminated in the US under a Medicare-for-all single-paver system.41 However, much of the administrative spending in the US supports choices that many Americans value—choice of benefits, insurers, providers, treatments, and so on—all of which

are enabled by a multipayer system. The council therefore presents recommendations that can be actionable within that system, where research suggests that significant savings are possible.

This set of recommendations adopts Nikhil Sahni and colleagues' categorization of administrative interventions. 42,43 "Within" interventions improve processes that are controlled and implemented by individual organizations. Examples include automating repetitive manual tasks in human resources and finance. "Between" interventions improve processes that require agreement to act between organizations but not broader, industrywide change—for example, implementing a payer-provider communication platform to automatically share information about in-network specialists. "Seismic" interventions address industrywide processes and require the participation of public and private decision makers and broad collaboration across the health care industry. Examples include adoption of a centralized, automated claims clearinghouse and harmonized quality reporting requirements.

RECOMMENDATION A1: STANDARDIZATION OF FOUR KEY 'BETWEEN' AND 'SEISMIC' PROCESSES

The council identified certain "between" and "seismic" processes as the highest-priority areas for intervention on the basis of their likely immediate effects on consumers' and clinicians' experience. The clinician perspective is especially critical now, in a post-COVID-19 environment, where health care workers have been particularly hard hit by stress and burnout. 44-47 One national organization representing physicians ranked "onerous administrative/paperwork burdens" as the top reason driving clinicians to retire early or leave the profession. 48

Although some of the reforms detailed here would admittedly produce relatively small savings on their own, these actionable steps can help build momentum for taking additional, and larger, steps in the future.

In the immediate term, the council recommends the standardization and streamlining of four high-cost processes for all payers and all providers. These primarily include processes that payers control, although the council recognizes that providers and other stakeholders must play a role in advocating for and participating in standardization efforts.

Collection Of Data For Provider Directories

To comply with state and federal law, health plans must provide members with directories that generally include in-network providers' practice locations, ability to accept new patients, office hours, and other information. CAQH estimates that maintaining provider directories costs US physician practices up to \$2.76 billion each year. 49 CAQH further estimates that if providers used a single platform to exchange directory information, they could save \$396 per practice, per month on average. Nationally, using a standardized platform for maintaining provider directories could save US physician practices at least \$1.1 billion per year. There are no available estimates of health plans' potential savings related to such a data collection platform, but any savings would be above and beyond those estimated for physicians.

Collection Of Data To Support Credentialing Of Providers

CAHQ defines credentialing as the "regulated process of assessing the qualifications of specific types of providers." ⁵⁰ Credentialing is performed by both health plans and hospitals and ensures that all providers are up to date on education and licensure. The information that providers share with health plans and hospitals for credentialing is similar to the information used for provider directories. According to CAQH, clinical practices using a single platform to facilitate credentialing with multiple health plans report spending, on average, \$1,250 per month to do so, or almost 40 percent less than the \$2,068 spent per month by those that used multiple approaches. ⁴⁹

Claims Processing

A centralized claims clearinghouse would standardize the electronic transmission of billing information across providers and payers. This system could be modeled after the banking industry's automated clearinghouse, which moves money among institutions while ensuring security.

Council member David Cutler proposes that an entity such as CAQH would promulgate operating standards for electronic submission of billing

"In the immediate term, the council recommends the standardization and streamlining of four high-cost processes for all payers and all providers."

information and that a second entity, a clearinghouse, would receive batches of claims from multiple payers and providers, routing them to the correct counterparty for each payment.⁵¹ The clearinghouse would serve as a fraud detector and confirm that submitted information was compliant with privacy and security standards. Cutler estimates that implementing a centralized clearinghouse and standardized billing information could save approximately \$300 million per year, which may be a conservative estimate. Another study by David Scheinker and colleagues finds that standardization of billing across provider and payer contracts, which is another feature of Cutler's proposed clearinghouse, could save 27 percent of billing- and insurance-related costs, 41 which may themselves account for about 13–17 percent of total national health spending each year.40

Notably, clearinghouses are used voluntarily by some providers and payers today. However, there is a disincentive to invest in compliance with any given clearinghouse's requirements, which may be changed at any time. Therefore, despite the council's general preference for voluntary approaches, mandatory designation of one or a few clearinghouses across the industry would ensure that stakeholder investments in compliance were protected.

Collection Of Data To Support Prior Authorization

Prior authorization is used by nearly all insurance plans, including Medicare Advantage plans, to manage costs and ensure appropriate use, and it can be particularly burdensome for clinicians. A first important step would be for all prior authorization processes to be conducted electronically, rather than on paper or by telephone or fax. Payer support may be needed to assist the most disadvantaged clinical practices in complying with such a requirement. CAQH estimates that transitioning to a fully electronic system for prior authorization could save \$417 million annually.52 Standardizing the data elements needed to complete the prior authorization process would help support full automation, which a number of stakeholders have called for.53-55

A proposed rule to streamline prior authorization was advanced by the Trump administration but appears to have been withdrawn by the Biden administration in 2021.⁵⁶ Some states are taking steps on their own: A newly formed payer and provider coalition in Massachusetts seeks to automate prior authorization functions in that state in a manner similar to the banking and travel industries,⁵⁷ and Michigan recently mandated the use of standardized prior authorization methods.⁵⁸

Summary Of Recommendation A1

The goal of this set of recommendations is to standardize the data flow, not to standardize

the decision-making criteria or the outcome. For example, information used for credentialing would be centrally collected, but organizations would make their own choices about whom to credential.

Standardization of these processes will require transparency and significant collaboration among public and private stakeholders, and an entity will need to take the lead in facilitating that collaboration. The council recommends that CMS play the convening role, leaning heavily wherever possible on existing efforts in states and in the private sector.

With the exception of the claims clearinghouse, the council does not recommend mandating use of standardized processes initially; rather, it expects that if CMS and several large private payers agree to use them—particularly if there are federal implementation grants available as an incentive—others will follow suit voluntarily. The council supports such federal assistance for these efforts, as they will require significant investment on the part of payers and providers.

RECOMMENDATION A2: LONGER-RUN HARMONIZATION OF QUALITY MEASURES

Few stakeholders would argue with Cutler's understated assertion that "quality assessment is hampered by the diversity of metrics."51 In the longer run, the council strongly supports ongoing and additional work to harmonize quality measures across payers. This will be impactful in terms of clinician and patient experience, as well as potential savings, although it is by no means simple to achieve. CMS uses more than 2,200 metrics across its programs alone, and state and local agencies and private payers add hundreds more.⁵¹ Although harmonization among these metrics has widespread industry support, large-scale testing of such initiatives would require coordination among many stakeholders and has therefore been limited. As a result, savings estimates are scarce. Lawrence Casalino and colleagues estimate that quality reporting costs providers

\$15 billion per year.⁵⁹ On the basis of this figure, Cutler suggests that use of a standard set of measures for all payers could save up to half of such costs, or about \$7 billion annually.⁵¹

CONCLUSION

An important consideration in reducing payers' and providers' administrative burden is ensuring that at least some portion of the savings accrues to individuals, employers, or the health care system writ large. For example, administrative reforms that reduce providers costs' should also lower providers' prices, which in turn could reduce employers' or individuals' premiums or cost sharing. Administrative savings could also be redirected to increase the value of care delivered.

B. Price Regulation And Supports For Competition

There is compelling evidence that relatively high US private-sector prices are an important driver of relatively high US health care spending. 60-62 Also compelling is a lack of evidence linking consolidation-induced higher prices within the US to higher-quality care. 63 A summary of literature that the council reviewed regarding prices and their contribution to overall spending is available as a Health Affairs Research Brief (also see section IV, "Supporting Research," at the end of this report). 17

In theory, competition in markets helps ensure that prices of goods and services reflect market conditions, including the cost of supplying them and consumers' ability and willingness to pay for them. In competitive markets, prices convey meaningful information to suppliers and consumers. High prices relative to costs should entice providers to enter markets and innovators to find cost-saving strategies, and they should encourage consumers to demand fewer services. Low prices send the opposite set of signals. This kind of competitive outcome does not appear to characterize many health care markets.

This set of recommendations focuses on negotiated health care prices in the private sector, rather than on administered prices in the public sector, given evidence pointing to the former as an important health care spending driver. ¹⁷ Administered prices have historically grown more slowly than commercial prices and are generally much lower than the latter across a range of services. ⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶ Nevertheless, many stakeholders believe that, at least in hospital markets, cost shifting from public to private payers is indeed a factor in private-sector prices. The empirical work, however, does not support this direct connection, and where it has been observed, the effect is small. ⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹

In considering recommendations to address private-sector prices, the council weighed the benefits of regulatory and administrative approaches versus market-based interventions. The former likely would have more immediate impacts than the latter, but they also entail a potentially high cost of compliance and enforcement and run a high risk of regulators "getting it wrong," further distorting the market while trying to fix it.

Nevertheless, the council believes that it is important to open the door to regulating some provider prices in some settings. Price regulation is not optimal in all types of markets. Accordingly, these recommendations include regulatory and nonregulatory approaches that are focused on three categories of markets. (Hospital care is used as an illustrative example, but a similar framework could be applied to markets for other health care goods and services, with some modifications.)

- Category 1 is markets that likely cannot be competitive (natural monopolies). These are markets with smaller populations (for example, below 400,000 residents) for analysis of hospital markets.
- Category 2 is markets that are not competitive now but could potentially be

- competitive with some intervention. These markets have a population size greater than the maximum threshold for category 1 and have an Herfindahl-Hirschman Index above 2,500, which is the Federal Trade Commission's (FTC's) threshold for moderately concentrated markets.⁷⁰
- Finally, category 3 is markets that are currently competitive. These markets have both a population size greater than the maximum threshold for category 1 and a Herfindahl-Hirschman Index below 2,500. A Herfindahl-Hirschman Index of 2,500 or lower cannot be achieved with fewer than four hospitals.

Exhibit 3 shows the number of markets and the share of US population in each category of hospital market. This analysis was performed by council member Sherry Glied, using 2015 data provided by the Petris Center at the University of California Berkeley, as described by Brent Fulton. A summary of Glied's methods and expanded findings, including for physician markets, is included as appendix B.

RECOMMENDATION B1: INCREASED STATE AND FEDERAL MONITORING OF MARKET COMPETITIVENESS AND SCRUTINY OF PROPOSED MERGERS

In all markets there is a need for increased monitoring of competitiveness, even in the absence of proposed mergers, as well as additional scrutiny of proposed mergers. These activities can be undertaken by the states and the FTC or Department of Justice (DOJ) and should ideally be done collaboratively by state and federal entities. State all-payer claims databases and efforts to increase price transparency to state regulators would support these activities.

This recommendation is in line with an October 2021 executive order from President Biden, which states that federal antitrust enforcement should focus in particular on markets for labor, agriculture, and health care (which includes

the prescription drug, hospital, and insurance markets) and on the tech sector.⁷²

State and federal budgets must prioritize these activities. In March 2022 President Biden proposed increasing the DOJ Antitrust Division's funding by \$88 million in 2023⁷³ (on a base of about \$200 million⁷⁴) and the FTC's funding by \$139 million (on a base of about \$375 million).⁷⁵ Following suit, the House Appropriations Committee's draft fiscal year 2023 funding bill increases the FTC's funding by \$113 million.⁷⁵ Additional statelevel antitrust enforcement funding could be provided by broad-based assessments on market participants or through user fees paid to state regulators by the parties proposing to merge.

RECOMMENDATION B2: LIMITED PRICE REGULATION IN MARKETS THAT CANNOT BE COMPETITIVE (CATEGORY 1)

In markets where competition is not feasible because smaller populations will not support multiple competitors, the council makes its strongest case for government intervention on price. For hospital markets, 249 Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSAs) and all non-MSAs in the US fall into this category, accounting for just

over 28 percent of the population (exhibit 3).

In these markets the council supports states in setting all-payer price maximums. Such maximums could be calculated one of many ways—for example, as a percentage of Medicare or of demographically adjusted price levels in chosen benchmark markets. The council does not recommend a specific benchmarking method. Advantages and disadvantages of various methods are explored in the literature.^{76,77}

As shown in exhibit 3, non-MSAs, which can be considered rural, account for about half the population in this category, requiring special consideration in price regulation. Here, policy makers must balance the competing priorities of geographic access and affordability. One proposal for balancing these needs is a two-part tariff that encourages the monopolist rural hospital to engage in marginal cost pricing. Operationally, this could take the form of all-payer rate setting in these areas, with all payers contributing to a pool used to provide a fixed payment to local hospitals to cover their fixed costs (based on their market share), with insurers negotiating marginal cost prices.

EXHIBIT 3

Number and share of markets and US population in each market category, hospitals (400,000 population cutoff for markets that cannot be competitive)

Market category	Markets	Share of MSAs (excludes non-MSA areas), %	Population	Share of population, %
1: Cannot be competitive	249 MSAs and all non-MSA areas	65	91,023,879 (includes 45,482,635 in non-MSA areas)	28
2: Potentially competitive	95 MSAs	25	80,500,166	25
3: Currently competitive	38 MSA	10	149,111,118	47

SOURCE: S. Glied, based on 2015 data provided by the Petris Center at the University of California Berkeley, as described Brent Fulton and colleagues.⁷¹ See appendix B.

NOTE: MSA is Metropolitan Statistical Area, as defined by the Census Bureau.

Policy makers will need to choose whether to establish price maximums for all services or limit them to specific services for which the local market is not competitive, given that the geographic market areas for all services are not the same—for example, the geographic market for neurosurgery is much larger than that for primary care.

The council recommends state, rather than federal, intervention in these markets. States differ in their markets and circumstances and are more likely than federal actors to be aware of particular rural access issues. In addition, states already have regulatory authority over hospitals and physician practices, and this would be an extension of that role.

RECOMMENDATION B3: PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT PLANS AND CONDITIONAL PRICE REGULATION IN MARKETS THAT COULD POTENTIALLY BE COMPETITIVE (CATEGORY 2)

For hospital markets, ninety-five MSAs fall into this category, accounting for about one-quarter of the population (exhibit 3). In these MSAs the population size is sufficient to support at least moderate competition. This can be accomplished by increasing the number of competitors, either by inducing more market entrants or by breaking up existing combinations in service lines where there could be more sellers of efficient size. The former is likely more palatable than the latter in most states and may be supported or encouraged by legislation that prohibits specific anticompetitive contracting clauses that are common in health care. These include most-favored-nation, anti-steering, anti-tiering, all-or-nothing, and gag clauses. Although most states currently ban most-favored-nation clauses, fewer ban the other types of clauses, with Massachusetts being a prominent exception.⁷⁸ In 2021 legislation was passed in Nevada, Washington, and New York to prohibit these types of clauses. These new laws provide an opportunity for continued research to

determine more definitively whether they are effective in improving competition.

Another category of state law and regulation that could be modified to support competition in these markets, at least with respect to clinicians, is licensure. For example, the Interstate Medical Licensure Compact provides a streamlined pathway for physicians to be licensed to provide telemedicine in states other than the one in which they are physically located. Today, thirtyseven states are included in this compact.⁷⁹ In addition, the Department of Veterans Affairs allows licensed providers to practice in any of its facilities, regardless of the state in which they are licensed.80 States could consider entering into these compacts or similar arrangements as a targeted way to increase the number of competitors in clinician markets.

In addition, policy makers may choose to authorize performance improvement plans on firms that are engaging in anticompetitive behavior in these markets. Such plans may require firms to divest facilities or take actions that enable new entrants. If competitiveness does not improve in a specified period, whether by the action of such firms or for exogenous reasons, states should move on to maximum price setting, as described in recommendation B2. Enhanced evaluation of competitiveness, as described in recommendation B1, will allow for price maximums to be removed if competitiveness improves.

In addition to the above, states and the federal government should give extra scrutiny to proposed mergers in these markets.

RECOMMENDATION B4: ADDITIONAL SUPPORTS FOR COMPETITION IN MARKETS THAT ARE CURRENTLY COMPETITIVE (CATEGORY 3)

Compared with the other market types described above, there are fewer hospital markets in this category—just thirty-eight MSAs—although they are home to 47 percent of the US population (exhibit 3). These markets are currently competitive, but if current consolidation

trends hold,^{71,81} they are nevertheless at risk of becoming less competitive because of future mergers and acquisitions, including those that are cross-market or backed by private equity.

In these markets the council does not recommend regulation of prices, but rather increased FTC and DOJ or state monitoring of competitiveness and merger activity, supported by appropriate funding, as described in recommendation B1.

In addition, as in recommendation B3, states should consider limiting or prohibiting anticompetitive contracting practices in these markets.

CONCLUSION

This set of recommendations addresses negotiated prices paid to providers by insurers. However, these are not the same as the prices that most people pay. The latter vary depending on each person's premium and out-of-pocket cost-sharing obligations. Because of these insurance coverage issues, there is not a perfect correlation between changes in providers' negotiated prices and changes in consumers' costs. The council did not consider specific recommendations about benefit design. Nevertheless, it is the council's hope that, particularly given medical loss ratio requirements and new price transparency rules for hospitals and health plans,82-84 payers will pass along to consumers at least a portion of reductions in negotiated prices. Without such behavior, the recommendations presented here would still likely result in price reduction, but they might also lead to people dropping coverage or forgoing needed care, both of which would contribute to health inequity.

C. Spending Growth Targets

A missing ingredient in US efforts to moderate health care spending growth is a locus for collective action. The council therefore encourages states, with federal support, to convene stakeholders to engage in data collection, analysis, and discussion about health care spending, which may lead to the establishment, monitoring, and enforcement of spending growth targets that are calibrated to growth in the overall economy.

Examples of this kind of multistakeholder work include Maryland's all-payer global budgeting system and Massachusetts's all-payer spending growth target setting.^{85,86} High-level results from these two initiatives are described in appendix C. In addition, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Nevada, New Jersey, Oregon, Rhode Island, and Washington are all in various stages of considering or actively implementing health care cost commissions to engage in target setting.⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹

To the extent that these types of efforts are successful in stabilizing the ratio of health care expenditures to GDP, there could be significant savings. Jonathan Skinner and colleagues estimate that if health care's share of the GDP beginning in 2022 could be stabilized at the 2019 level (18 percent), then total health care expenditures between 2022 and 2031 would be \$3 trillion lower than if health care's share of the GDP continues to grow at the same rate that it has since 1980.¹¹

Although target-setting work is led by states today, there are advantages and disadvantages to state versus federal leadership in this area. States are an advantageous locus for these activities because of wide variability in needs and priorities and because states are laboratories for testing multiple approaches when we are not yet certain what works best. In addition, many states have significant momentum to address this issue, and their ongoing work should be encouraged.

However, if this set of recommendations is implemented only by states, some states will decline to participate, potentially exacerbating existing health and socioeconomic disparities among states. In addition, this work is data intensive (as described below), and many states

will not have sufficient resources to develop and analyze the needed data. Furthermore, for payers and providers operating in multiple states, a plethora of home-grown, state-level data requirements will be burdensome.

Importantly, states may have little leverage to influence certain factors in health care spending, particularly the actions of self-insured employers and trusts protected under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) of 1974. In addition, although states have jurisdiction over some aspects of drug prices, 90,91 such as how insurers pass on manufacturer rebates to patients, they cannot change federal laws and regulations that affect drug prices nationwide. These include federal patent law and regulations around the drug approval process.

For these reasons, the council generally supports states taking the lead in this area, but with significant federal coordination and support to ensure the robustness and interoperability of state efforts and to ease participation for stakeholders that are active in multiple states.

RECOMMENDATION C1: DATA-SUPPORTED SPENDING GROWTH TARGET SETTING

All states, either individually or in concert with other states or the federal government, are encouraged to develop a mechanism to establish health care spending growth targets relative to the size of the economy and in the context of other state goals concerning equity, affordability, and access. One such mechanism would be to create a dedicated commission, similar to those implemented in Massachusetts and Maryland. States may find other ways to accomplish the same goal with existing structures.

The governance of a target-setting entity must be multistakeholder, including providers, payers, and patients, and it must have a process that is transparent to the public. Data needed for target setting are readily available. To date, the states that have established spending growth targets have calibrated them to be slower than the growth rate of a key economic indicator, such as the gross state product, household income, wages, or Consumer Price Index. Growth targets established by the eight states currently undertaking this work range from 3.1 percent to 3.5 percent for 2021–23.87

RECOMMENDATION C2: DATA-SUPPORTED MONITORING OF SPENDING GROWTH

States that choose to set spending growth targets should develop a mechanism to monitor performance relative to the target through analysis and public reporting. The Peterson-Milbank Program for Sustainable Health Care Costs, which supports states in implementing spending growth targets, recommends that states focus not only on high spending but also on spending variation and high growth rates. 89 Analysis should disaggregate high spending or growth to determine whether it is caused by outlier prices, practice patterns, population characteristics, or other factors. Analysis should also identify specific stakeholders experiencing high spending or growth.

The monitoring entity must have power, granted through legislation or executive action, to compel stakeholders to share necessary data, either with the state or with a centralized, federally led data collection entity, as described under recommendation C4. Data needed for monitoring spending growth might not be the same as those used for target setting. Although thirty states already have all-payer claims databases in existence or development, 92 these might not provide data in a timely fashion, nor in a granular enough fashion to support this type of monitoring. In addition, many all-payer claims databases collect data on hospital discharges only, which is insufficient for this purpose.

Instead, monitoring entities may need payer-reported aggregate data. According to a recent report, the best practices in collecting such data are set by Massachusetts, Delaware, Oregon, and Rhode Island.⁸⁷ Data used by these states include medical expenses paid to providers by

private and public payers and any non-claimsrelated payments; all patient cost-sharing amounts, such as deductibles and copayments; and net cost of private health insurance, which includes administrative expenses and operating margins for commercial payers. Payers from which these data should be collected include commercial insurers, Medicare Advantage, traditional Medicare, Medicaid managed care organizations, fee-for-service Medicaid, state employee health plans, state correctional facilities, the Indian Health Service, and other federal entities such as the Department of Veterans Affairs. Data collection from entities protected under ERISA is discussed under recommendation C4.

"The governance of a targetsetting entity must be multistakeholder...and it must have a process that is transparent to the public."

Additional data collected at the subpayer level can be used to analyze spending drivers.⁸⁷ Such data may include hospital discharges, payer expenditure reports, provider financial reports, surveys of employers and households, consumer premiums, cost sharing, plan types, and prescription drug costs.

Importantly, data collection strategies should be designed, whenever feasible, in a way that supports states' efforts to detect health care disparities across population subgroups.⁹³

RECOMMENDATION C3: DATA-SUPPORTED ENFORCEMENT OF SPENDING GROWTH TARGETS

States that have established spending growth targets and are actively monitoring progress against them should develop a mechanism to enforce them. The party to which the

enforcement action would apply, whether a payer, a health system, or some other entity, will depend on analysts' understanding of what is driving excess spending growth. The type of enforcement action that might be feasible or desirable in any given state will vary. Such actions lie along a spectrum from simple transparency (public reporting of data), to public justification of prices or spending, to performance improvement plans, to direct fines or other penalties. In Massachusetts the state Health Policy Commission has relied primarily on a "naming and shaming" strategy, hoping that publicly calling out health systems and payers for outlier spending will encourage corrective action.94 Some observers believe that the threat of this public shaming did have a sentinel effect on providers in the first few years of the program.⁹⁵ However, a waning of that effect may help explain the uptick in spending growth in the past two years. In response to that change, the Health Policy Commission required a performance improvement plan from one large provider, Mass General Brigham, in early 2022. The plan was formally approved several months later and includes the providers' commitment to cut prices by millions of dollars over the course of an eighteen-month implementation period that had just begun as the council completed its work.96

All states should formally evaluate the efficacy of enforcement mechanisms and adjust as needed.

RECOMMENDATION C4: FEDERAL SUPPORT FOR DATA INFRASTRUCTURE

Collecting and analyzing state-level, payer-reported aggregate spending data is costly and requires expertise. For example, in 2020 the Massachusetts initiative, including both the commission and the agency charged with performing data analysis, supported eleven commissioners and sixty professional staff with an annual budget of more than \$36 million. 95 The council therefore recommends federal support for states undertaking this type of work. In addition to providing direct financial

support, the federal government can help states share learnings through meetings and dissemination of best practices.

As more states gather these data, there is a need for national-level minimum, common data standards to support comparability across states and to ease the administrative burden on payers and providers operating in multiple states. Furthermore, states acting on their own cannot compel data from self-insured employers and trusts protected by ERISA, but they may request such information. Standardized data requirements across states will make it easier for ERISA plans to comply with such requests.

A national-level entity should convene immediately to determine what data are required to support this work, how to leverage the efforts of states already collecting these data, and how to create an ongoing mechanism for states to learn from one another. Ideally, CMS could play a lead role in convening stakeholders for this purpose.

The council identified several important questions that the national entity and its stakeholders must answer:

- Should the national entity set standards for state data collection, or should it serve as the data collector itself? The former offers states flexibility, but the latter may be necessary to reduce redundancies, ensure a basic level of data quality, and ease the process for multistate employers and payers.
- If the national entity is designed as a centralized data collector, will states engaged in target setting be required to participate in such efforts, or will they be able to opt out and maintain their own data? What financial or technical assistance incentives could be offered to encourage states to participate?
- What data could or should be collected from states that do not engage in target setting?

• How will the entity make the data available to researchers and the public to allow outside analysis and transparency?

MINORITY REPORT: SPENDING GROWTH TARGETS

Five council members had specific reservations about supporting this set of recommendations and offer a minority report (see page 19).

CONCLUSION

The mechanisms described in this section are primarily designed to address health care spending growth. However, once established, the multistakeholder entities described here could be used, if desired, to set other priorities—for example, around payment models, health care workforce issues, or market conditions. In Massachusetts the Health Policy Commission is charged with accelerating the adoption of public and private value-based payment models. ⁹⁵ Thus, spending growth target setting may provide a foundation for stakeholder collaboration to further other shared health system goals.

D. Value-Based Payment

In this report, *value-based payment*—often called advanced Alternative Payment Models (APMs)—refers to a variety of arrangements, all of which are best defined by what they are not: open-ended fee-for-service payments. Valuebased payment models can exist at multiple levels within the health care system and can be used to compensate payees such as the health plan, the delivery system (here used to include institutional providers, such as hospitals, physician groups, or combinations thereof), or the individual clinician. For example, Medicare may use these models to pay private health plans with which it contracts (as in Medicare Advantage), health plans may use them with delivery systems, and delivery systems may use them with individual clinicians. The focus of this report, and much of the research on value-based payment, is those models that are used to pay delivery systems.

Minority Report: Spending Growth Targets

Five council members offer this minority report regarding recommendations C1–C4. These members believe that it would be prudent to look to the states that are already engaged in target setting to generate evidence that is needed to either support or reject these recommendations.

Each state's health care market is unique, and states have differing perspectives on whether there are problems in those markets and how to intervene, or not, to address them. During 2013–19, growth in health care spending across states ranged from 1.0 percent to 4.2 percent.i States at the lower end of this range might not want or need to make the investments in data infrastructure, staffing, political capital, and other resources necessary to support the recommendations of the council. The influence of state politics and the varying political perspectives of governors and state legislators should not be overlooked, either. The council should not presume that federal financial support or data infrastructure will be enough to spur states to adopt growth targets if they are otherwise not inclined to interfere in private markets.

In addition, there is little to no evidence that growth targets will produce savings for employers, consumers, and other payers. Only Maryland and Massachusetts have significant experience with setting growth targets, and their experience is unlikely to closely predict that

of most other states. They are both small, liberal, eastern states, each with only three hospital referral regions and a small number of dominant health systems driving higher-than-average per capita costs. ^{ii,iii} In addition, Massachusetts has one of the lowest rates of uninsurance in the nation. ^{iv}

Massachusetts's experience has been mixed in terms of meeting the state's benchmarks, with the rate of growth exceeding the benchmark in four of the seven years between 2013 and 2019, including the two most recent years not affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Although Massachusetts's spending trend was below the national growth rate from 2013 to 2018, vi it is not clear whether that should be credited to the state's growth targets or to higher spending growth in other states, driven by coverage expansions under the Affordable Care Act, whereas Massachusetts's coverage expansions—and the associated spike in spending—occurred in 2006–07.

Maryland's pathway and experience is somewhat different than that of Massachusetts: It grew out of the state's hospital all-payer rate setting process, established in 1977. From 2014 to 2018 the state moved to a global budget revenue model, with a target for hospital revenue growth of less than 3.58 percent annually; although this was achieved, it is limited to hospital spending growth. VII in 2019 Maryland moved to a total cost of care model, but it

would not be prudent to assess the health system's performance under this model yet.

Finally, there is no evidence that limiting spending growth will not harm patients by limiting access to new technology or cutting wages and employment in the health care sector. Given the lack of evidence that these initiatives always do more good than harm, there is a material risk that states' efforts to intervene in the private market will be misguided at best and damaging at worst. This is particularly true in markets that are currently functioning competitively and in which the council recommends no active intervention on prices (see recommendation B4). Even in states with currently uncompetitive hospital markets, policies to improve competition should be tried before turning to spending targets.

Furthermore, these recommendations come with substantial administrative costs, at odds with the council's recommendations A1 and A2, aimed at reducing administrative waste. As one example, California has budgeted for fifty-nine staff members and \$15.5 million in personnel and operations costs for its new targetsetting entity in 2022–23, rising to 142 staff members and \$31.6 million by 2024–25.viii This is just for the state's costs—it does not include any investments that health insurers, employers, and other affected entities must make to comply.

Minority Report: continued

In conclusion, this minority believes that the council should not encourage all states to "develop a mechanism to establish health care spending growth targets," nor should the federal government create infrastructure to support them. Nevertheless, there are already a small number of states moving forward. It seems most prudent to look to these first movers to generate the needed evidence in support or rejection of setting targets so that the remaining states can learn from their experience.

References

- i. Johnson EK, Wojtesta MA, Crosby SW, Duber HC, Jun E, Lescinsky H, et al. Varied health spending growth across US states was associated with incomes, price levels, and Medicaid expansion, 2000–19. Health Aff (Millwood). 2022;41(8):1088–97.
- ii. Dartmouth Atlas. Supplemental data: hospital research data [Internet]. Hanover (NH): Trustees of Dartmouth College; 2022 [cited 2022 Oct 26]. Available from:

- https://data.dartmouthatlas.org/ supplemental/#hospital
- iii. Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation.

 Health care expenditures per capita
 by state of residence [Internet]. San
 Francisco (CA): KFF; 2022 [cited
 2022 Oct 26]. Available from: https://
 www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/
 health-spending-per-capita/
- iv. Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation.
 Health insurance coverage of the total population (CPS) [Internet].
 San Francisco (CA): KFF; 2022 [cited 2022 Oct 26]. Available from: https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/health-insurance-coverage-of-the-total-population-cps/?currentTime frame=0&sortModel=%7B%22colld%2 2:%22Uninsured%22,%22sort%22:%2 2desc%22%7D
- v. Center for Health Information and Analysis. Performance of the Massachusetts health care system: annual report [Internet]. Boston (MA): CHIA; 2022 Mar [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.chiamass.gov/assets/2022-annual-report/2022-Annual-Report-Rev-2.pdf
- vi. Waugh L, McCarthy D. How the

- Massachusetts health policy commission is fostering a statewide commitment to contain health care spending growth [Internet]. New York (NY): Commonwealth Fund; 2020 Mar 5 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/case-study/2020/mar/massachusetts-health-policy-commission-spending-growth
- vii. Haber S, Beil H, Morrison M,
 Greenwald L, Perry R, Jiang L, et
 al. Evaluation of the Maryland
 all-payer model: volume 1: final
 report [Internet]. Waltham (MA):
 RTI International; 2019 Nov [cited
 2022 Oct 21]. Contract No.: HHSM500–2010–00021I. Available from:
 https://downloads.cms.gov/files/
 md-allpayer-finalevalrpt.pdf
- viii. State of California. Budget change proposal—cover sheet [Internet].
 Sacramento (CA): State of California;
 2020 Oct [cited 2022 Oct 26].
 Available from: https://esd.dof.ca
 .gov/Documents/bcp/2223/
 FY2223_ORG4140_BCP5706.pdf

Conceptually, value-based payment runs the gamut from fee-for-service with bonuses for quality to the more advanced models, including bundled payment and accountable care organizations (ACOs), and to full global capitation. Models vary in the extent to which they maintain an element of fee-for-service payment and in the degree of clinical and financial risk borne by the payee.

The Health Care Payment Learning and Action Network (LAN) has developed a widely used framework for categorizing payment models that allows for tracking and promotion of those that are considered value-based (exhibit 4).⁹⁷ The council's focus is primarily on the LAN's category 3 and 4 models, which it calls "advanced." These encourage delivery system accountability for total cost and quality and do not reward volume.

Value-based payment is a systemic intervention that can potentially pull all four of the levers of high-value spending and growth identified by the council (price, volume, mix of services, and growth; see exhibit 1). Delivery systems paid under value-based payment have an incentive to provide care in the most efficient setting and to reduce input costs where feasible, with ripple effects on prices. They also have incentives to increase use of high-value care, decrease use of low-value care, and improve administrative efficiency. Finally, limits on growth in value-based payment models year over year, by definition, limit growth in spending.

EXHIBIT 4

The Alternative Payment Model Framework

The Atternative I ayın	ent Model Flamework	<u> </u>	
CATEGORY 1	CATEGORY 2	CATEGORY 3	CATEGORY 4
Fee-for-service: no link to quality and value	Fee-for-service: link to quality and value	APMs built on fee-for-service architecture	Population-based payment
	2A	3A	4A
	Foundational payments for infrastructure and operations For example, care coordination fees and payments for health information technology investments	APMs with shared savings For example, shared savings with upside risk only	Condition-specific population-based payment For example, per member per month payments or payments for specialty services, such as oncology or mental health
	2В	3B	4B
	Pay-for-reporting For example, bonuses for reporting data or penalties for not reporting data	APMs with shared savings and downside risk For example, episode-based payments for procedures and comprehensive payments with upside and downside risk	Comprehensive population-based payment For example, global budgets or the full or a percent of premium payments 4C
	Pay-for-reporting For example, bonuses for reporting data or penalties for not reporting data	APMs with shared savings and downside risk For example, episode-based payments for procedures and comprehensive payments with upside and	Comprehensive population-based payment For example, global budgets or the full or a percent of premium payments
	Pay-for-reporting For example, bonuses for reporting data or penalties for not reporting data 2C Pay-for-performance For example, bonuses for	APMs with shared savings and downside risk For example, episode-based payments for procedures and comprehensive payments with upside and	Comprehensive population-based payment For example, global budgets or the full or a percent of premium payments 4C Integrated finance and delivery systems For example, global budgets or the full or a percent of premium payments in integrated

SOURCE: Health Care Payment Learning and Action Network (the LAN), 2017, used with permission and adapted for this report (see note 98 in the text).

NOTES: Subcategories labeled with "N" indicate "no quality considerations." These models are not considered by the LAN to represent true payment reform and are not tracked as part of measuring the achievement of the LAN's goals.

Importantly, under value-based payment, decisions about which levers to pull, and how aggressively, are left to the discretion of the entity placed under the spending constraint. These decisions have implications for quality of and access to care, so it is crucial that payment models have safeguards in those areas built into their design.

Despite compelling theory, use of prominent value-based payment models—the advanced APMs put forth by the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation (CMMI)—has not resulted in significant savings to payers, providers, or patients. A summary of literature the council reviewed regarding savings from value-based payment is available as a Health Affairs Research Brief 98 (also see section IV, "Supporting Research," at the end of this report). Estimates of savings attributable to ACOs in Medicare have ranged from less than 1 percent to more than 6 percent of total per person spending. Savings from bundled payment models have been slightly higher, particularly for bundles related to joint surgery, but the outcomes are widely varied and depend heavily on the details of a specific episode.

"The council believes that continued experimentation with value-based payment is needed."

The fact that savings have been more modest than initially expected may primarily be a consequence of design and implementation challenges rather than fundamental flaws in this approach to payment reform. Experts within and outside of CMS have identified the following challenges.

First, according to CMS Administrator Chiquita Brooks-LaSure and colleagues, the voluntary nature of delivery system participation "limit[s] the potential savings and full ability to test an intervention, because participants opt in when they believe they will benefit financially, and opt out (or never join) when they believe they are at risk for losses."99

Second, Michael Chernew and colleagues have noted that the plethora of models "can create program fatigue, complicate incentives, add to administrative costs, and distract from the challenges of broader health care system transformation." ¹⁰⁰

Third, there is insufficient support for, or incentive to accept, downside risk. Some evidence¹⁰¹ suggests that delivery systems facing downside risk perform better than those in upside-only contracts, although this is not universally true (for example, in the case of the early Pioneer ACO model).¹⁰⁰ Nevertheless, it is well understood that many delivery systems need additional tools to be able to accept downside risk, including waivers, data, and support for transforming care, particularly for vulnerable populations.⁹⁹

Fourth, fee-for-service continues to dominate the payment landscape. Value-based payment represents only a small slice of the health care spending landscape, limiting delivery systems' ability to respond to the inherent incentives with significant changes in practice. There could be a greater impact on spending through a "spillover" effect on practice if a critical mass of spending fell under value-based payment models.

Finally, there are financial incentives related to both benchmark setting and risk adjustment that experts believe undermine many models' effectiveness. 99,100,102,103

These challenges notwithstanding, the council believes that continued experimentation with value-based payment is needed; these models have the potential to be a chassis supporting the council's other sets of recommendations regarding administrative streamlining, competitive pricing, and spending growth targets by making the right thing easy to do.

There are reasons to be optimistic that continued experimentation with value-based payment will yield positive results. Notably, there is strong CMMI support for addressing many of the criticisms that experts have identified in Medicare's rollout of APMs.^{99,103-105}

In addition, there is great potential to expand value-based payment models further into the private sector, where uptake of the more advanced models has been lower than in Medicare. ¹⁰⁶ Private-sector value-based payment models may be more effective in addressing health care prices than Medicare models have been, given that prices are negotiated in commercial markets but administered in Medicare.

RECOMMENDATION D1: CONTINUED EVOLUTION OF VALUE-BASED PAYMENT MODELS

The council strongly supports continued development, evaluation, and evolution of value-based payment models in both the public and private sectors, focusing on the following elements:

- Fewer models and better alignment among payers. The council supports CMMI's move to limit the number of models and also encourages more public and private collaboration, particularly on a regional basis, to choose and implement only a limited number of models.
- Stronger incentives for patients to obtain care from accountable delivery systems. Payers and payees should consider models that allow patient "lock-in" to a specific delivery system that is accountable for their care.
- Increased levels of financial risk (that is, the proportion of savings or losses that can accrue to payees) and clinical risk (that is, the breadth of services for which payees are at financial risk, such as physician services only or both physician and hospital services). This will give delivery systems more flexibility in determining how to treat and manage patients in terms of what services are provided, where, and how.

• Exploration of incentives for addressing health-supporting social needs. Some payers and health systems are experimenting with providing support for patients to access services such as housing, food, and transportation assistance. A recent review of such programs called the evidence of their impact on health care use and spending "nascent," although often promising. 107 One challenge in developing these models is a lack of data on patients' access to nonclinical health-supporting services. This data gap has led some experts to call for the development of standardized measures of the "social drivers of health," defined as "person-level measure[s] of food insecurity, housing instability, transportation problems, utility assistance needs, interpersonal safety, and other social needs that impact health."108 CMS has signaled support for adopting such measures, notably by incorporating them, for the first time ever, into proposed rules on inpatient hospital payment and in new requirements for ACOs participating in the Realizing Equity, Access, and Community Health (REACH) model. 109,110 The council supports ongoing experimentation in this area, recognizing that improved measurement is a critical first step.

CONCLUSION

In reviewing research regarding value-based payment, council members were disappointed with the lack of substantial savings to date. However, during the council's multiyear process, there was strong support for the general notion that fee-for-service cannot be the future of a health care system capable of controlling spending levels and growth. In fact, incentives inherent in fee-for-service are a cause of many of the problems addressed by the council's recommendations. The council believes that a refined approach to value-based payment could not only generate cost savings and improve quality but also help create a foundation on which to build additional reforms.

III. Putting It All Together

The overarching goal of the recommendations in this report is to achieve higher-value health care spending and growth in the US. The mechanisms for achieving this goal involve paying the most efficient price for the right quantity of care for the right patients and populations and growing the price and volume sustainably and maintaining an appropriate mix over time. With this as the goal, the council offers recommendations in four priority areas:

- administrative streamlining,
- price regulation and supports for competition,
- spending growth targets, and
- value-based payment.

These four sets of recommendations are intended to work together. This final chapter of the report provides analysis of important interactions among the sets of recommendations and

offers concluding thoughts to guide implementation efforts.

A. Interactions

In many cases the sets of recommendations enable one another. However, in a few cases they could create countervailing pressures. Exhibit 5 describes major interactions among the sets of recommendations.

ADMINISTRATIVE STREAMLINING

Meaningful standardization of administrative processes, as outlined in recommendations A1 and A2, could support the council's recommendations around price regulation and supports for competition. Such standardization could help eliminate differing administrative burdens as a potential driver of high price variation across markets, allowing regulators to zero in on more likely drivers such as competitive dynamics.

In addition, to the extent that standardization results in reduced administrative spending, it could also be one element of a strategy to meet health care spending growth targets. Standardized administrative processes could also enable

EXHIBIT 5

Interactions among council recommendations

	Effect of recommendation category on other categories (enabling, countervailing, or neutral)			
Recommendation category	Administrative streamlining	Price regulation and supports for competition	Spending growth targets	Value-based payment
A1-A2: Administrative streamlining		Neutral Enabling	Neutral Enabling	Neutral Enabling
B1-B4: Price regulation and supports for competition	Neutral		Enabling	Neutral
C1-C4: Spending growth targets	Enabling Countervailing	Enabling		Neutral Enabling
D1: Value-based payment	Enabling Countervailing	Countervailing	Enabling	

SOURCE: Authors' analysis.

more streamlined collection of data to monitor progress relative to targets. For example, a state could gather much of the required data from a centralized claims clearinghouse, if one is present, instead of collecting data from individual payers.

The council's longer-run recommendation to harmonize quality measurement across payers would likely support implementation of value-based payment, as quality measurement is a key component of these models.

PRICE REGULATION AND SUPPORTS FOR COMPETITION

Improved analysis of market competitiveness, as outlined in recommendations B1–B4, would be an important input to any federal or state entity tasked with setting and monitoring overall spending growth targets. Such information will help these entities identify likely root causes of any observed outlier spending or prices.

SPENDING GROWTH TARGETS

Federal or state entities tasked with setting, monitoring, and potentially enforcing spending growth targets, as outlined in recommendations C1–C4, could engage in various initiatives that would dovetail with efforts recommended by the council. For example:

- In support of administrative streamlining, such entities could review state regulation of clinicians and insurers to identify administrative processes that are duplicative or unnecessarily burdensome.
- As noted, monitoring entities will need to disaggregate high spending or growth to determine whether it is caused by outlier prices, practice patterns, or population characteristics. This type of analysis, especially to the extent that it involves examination of prices, would naturally support the work of state and federal regulators working to monitor and improve competition. In Massachusetts the Health Policy Commission, whose primarily responsibility is to set and

enforce spending growth targets, is also tasked with making recommendations to the state's attorney general regarding antitrust enforcement, illustrating that target-setting entities and antitrust regulators can benefit from working closely with one another. Doing so will also potentially reduce regulatory compliance burdens on payers and providers if requests for data can be coordinated.

 Target-setting entities would also be well suited to bring together stakeholders to agree on a limited number of value-based payment models to implement if a state chooses to do so.

However, setting, monitoring, and enforcing spending growth targets will likely add administrative costs to the health system, thus working against the council's recommendations on administrative streamlining. Whenever possible, data requirements from entities involved in target setting should build on existing efforts. Nevertheless, it is likely that the council's recommendations around target setting will lead to a net increase in administrative spending. This increase, although necessary to achieve other goals, makes even more urgent the need to streamline the administrative processes identified by the council as first priorities in recommendation A1.

VALUE-BASED PAYMENT

Value-based payment models (recommendation D1) can also impose heavy administrative costs. In particular, many value-based payment models rely on risk adjustment, which is normally based on claims data, thus creating incentives for providers to invest resources in coding. At the same time, however, value-based payment models could incorporate features that would allow for the elimination of some costly administrative processes. For example, a payer could design a value-based payment plan such that providers consistently meeting spending and quality goals are exempt from some prior authorization.

Significant penetration of value-based payment in a state could also affect both price transparency efforts and analysis of the effects of consolidation on prices, as it will be more difficult to disentangle individual prices from bundled and capitated payment arrangements. In addition, there is some concern that pressure on providers to accept value-based payment contracts has led, and will continue to lead, to increased consolidation. Regulators examining proposed consolidation that is related to value-based payment should carefully consider whether these arrangements permit entities to exercise market power. It will be important for regulators to discern when consolidation is truly needed to achieve the value-based payment aim or whether contractual

arrangements among parties can achieve the same effect.

B. Concluding Thoughts

As noted, the council did not have a formal consensus process, although staff strove to craft language that could be supported by most, if not all, members. Where this was not feasible, a minority report is provided (see recommendations C1–C4). In all other cases, readers may assume that all council members expressed at least some level of support for the recommendation. To better understand that level of support, members rated their confidence, based on the empirical evidence, that individual recommendations

EXHIBIT 6

Key attributes of recommendations of the Council on Health Care Spending and Value

Recommendation	Member confidence that recommendation can produce savings or slowed growth (high [H] or medium [M])	Level of resources and difficulty of implementation (high or medium)	Expected magnitude of \$ impact if successful (high or medium)	
A1: Standardization of four key "between" and "seismic" processes	М	М	М	
A2: Longer-run harmonization of quality measures	Н	Н	Н	
B1: Increased state and federal monitoring of market competitiveness and scrutiny of proposed mergers	Н	Н	Н	
B2: Limited price regulation in markets that cannot be competitive	М	Н	Н	
B3: Performance improvement plans and conditional price regulation in markets that could be competitive	М	Н	Н	
B4: Additional supports for competition in markets that are currently competitive	М	М	М	
C1: Data-supported spending growth target setting	М	М		
C2: Data-supported monitoring of spending growth	М	М	\$ impact	
C3: Data-supported enforcement of spending growth targets	М	М	as yet unknown	
C4: Federal support for data infrastructure	М	М		
D1: Continued evolution of value-based payment models	М	М	М	

SOURCE: Authors' analysis.

would either produce savings or slow growth. As shown in exhibit 6, all of the recommendations clustered together. Average confidence ratings were in the "medium" range, with the exception of two outliers for which members had "high" confidence. These were recommendation A2 (longer-run harmonization of quality measures) and recommendation B1 (increased state and federal monitoring of market competitiveness and scrutiny of proposed mergers).

Exhibit 6 also rates the recommendations on two additional factors: level of resources needed and difficulty of implementation, and the expected dollar magnitude of impact if successful. Ideally, recommendations would be low cost and high impact, but this is not the case with respect to the council's recommendations—greater impact will require greater effort. This finding highlights a maxim that members knew when they began this work: If ensuring high-value health care spending and growth were easy, it would already have been done.

"The council hopes to provide a strong starting point for action."

The level of collaboration and compromise that will be required to implement these recommendations is significant. However, in steering policy makers and other stakeholders toward a set of recommendations that has been vetted and supported by a diverse group of experts with divergent interests, the council hopes to provide a strong starting point for action. As noted previously, stakeholders must start where they are, with the tools currently available, and move forward. These recommendations contain a road map for doing so. They are offered in a spirit of optimism and humility and in the belief that success in any or all of these areas may open the door to even more impactful actions in the future.

IV. Supporting Research

This report was informed by the council's review of an extensive body of literature regarding key drivers of US health care spending and growth and the likely effects of various interventions. Much of this research is reflected in the report's endnotes.

Additional sources can be found in the following documents:

- Appendix A. Supplemental Bibliography:
 Health Care Spending and Growth by Sector;
 Key Drivers of Health Care Spending Growth
- Appendix B. Supplemental Analysis of Market Concentration and Health Services
- Appendix C. Health Care Spending Growth Targets in Massachusetts and Maryland
- Health Affairs Research Brief: The role of administrative waste in excess US health spending. Washington (DC): Health Affairs; 2022 Oct 6.¹⁶
- Health Affairs Research Brief: The role of prices in excess US health spending.
 Washington (DC): Health Affairs; 2022
 Jun 9.¹⁷
- Health Affairs Research Brief: The role of clinical waste in excess US health spending.
 Washington (DC): Health Affairs; 2022
 Jun 9.¹⁸
- Health Affairs Research Brief: Value-based payment as a tool to address excess US health spending. Washington (DC): Health Affairs; 2022 Dec 1.98

V. Appendices

Appendix A. Supplemental Bibliography: Health Care Spending And Growth By Sector; Key Drivers Of Health Care Spending Growth

PART 1: HEALTH CARE SPENDING AND GROWTH BY SECTOR

Abrams K, Balan-Cohen A, Durbha P. Growth in outpatient care: the role of quality and value incentives [Internet]. New York (NY): Deloitte Insights; 2018 Aug 15 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/health-care/outpatient-hospital-services-medicare-incentives-value-quality.html

Carroll A. What makes the US health care system so expensive—introduction. The Incidental Economist [blogontheInternet].2010Sep20[cited2022Oct30].Availablefrom: https://theincidentaleconomist.com/wordpress/what-makes-the-us-health-care-system-so-expensive-introduction/

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. National health expenditure data [Internet].

Baltimore (MD): CMS; [last modified 2021 Dec 1; cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from:

historical.asp

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. National health expenditure data: historical [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): CMS; [last modified 2021 Dec 15; cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/research-statistics-data-and-systems/statistics-trends-and-reports/ nationalhealthexpenddata/nationalhealthaccountshistorical

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. National health expenditure projections 2018–2027 [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): CMS; [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/Downloads/ForecastSummary.pdf

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. National health expenditure data: projected [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): CMS; [last modified 2022 Apr 27; cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/
NationalHealthExpendData/NationalHealthAccountsProjected

Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. Comparison of U.S. and international prices for top Medicare Part B drugs by total expenditures [Internet]. Washington (DC): ASPE; 2018 Oct 25 [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/private/pdf/259996/ ComparisonUSInternationalPricesTopSpendingPartBDrugs.pdf

Frakt A. Medical mystery: something happened to U.S. health spending after 1980. New York Times [serial on the Internet]. 2018 May 14 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/14/upshot/medical-mystery-health-spending-1980.html

Glied S, Ma S, Solis-Roman C. Where the money goes: the evolving expenses of the US health care system. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(7):1197–203.

- Hartman M, Martin AB, Benson J, Catlin A, The National Health Expenditure Accounts Team. National health care spending in 2018: growth driven by accelerations in Medicare and private insurance spending. Health Aff (Millwood). 2020;39(1):8–17.
- Hartman M, Martin AB, Espinosa N, Catlin A, The National Health Expenditure Accounts Team. National health care spending in 2016: spending and enrollment growth slow after initial coverage expansions. Health Aff (Millwood). 2018;37(1):150–60.
- Hartman M, Martin AB, Washington B, Catlin A, The National Health Expenditure Accounts Team. National health care spending in 2020: growth driven by federal spending in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Health Aff (Millwood). 2022;41(1):13–25.
- Health Care Cost Institute. 2017 health care cost and utilization report [Internet]. Washington (DC): HCCI; 2019 Feb 11 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://healthcostinstitute.org/annual-reports/2017-health-care-cost-and-utilization-report
- Health Care Cost Institute. 2018 health care cost and utilization report [Internet]. Washington (DC): HCCI; 2020 Feb 13 [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://healthcostinstitute.org/annual-reports/2020-02-13-18-20-19
- Health Care Cost Institute. 2019 health care cost and utilization report [Internet]. Washington (DC): HCCI; 2021 Oct [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://healthcostinstitute.org/images/pdfs/HCCI_2019_Health_Care_Cost_and_Utilization_Report.pdf
- Health Care Cost Institute. 2020 health care cost and utilization report [Internet]. Washington (DC): HCCI; 2022 May [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://healthcostinstitute.org/images/pdfs/HCCI_2020_Health_Care_Cost_and_Utilization_Report.pdf
- Kleinrock M, Westrich K, Buelt L, Aitken M, Dubois RW. Reconciling the seemingly irreconcilable: how much are we spending on drugs? Value Health. 2019;22(7):792–8.
- Kurani N, Ortaliza J, Wager E, Fox L, Amin K. How has U.S. spending on healthcare changed over time? [Internet]. New York (NY): Peterson-KFF Health System Tracker; 2022 Feb 25 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.healthsystemtracker.org/chart-collection/u-s-spending-healthcare-changed-time/
- Martin AB, Hartman M, Lassman D, Catlin A, The National Health Expenditure Accounts Team. National health care spending in 2019: steady growth for the fourth consecutive year. Health Aff (Millwood). 2021;40(1):14–24.
- Martin AB, Hartman M, Washington B, Catlin A, The National Health Expenditure Accounts Team. National health care spending in 2017: growth slows to post–Great Recession rates; share of GDP stabilizes. Health Aff (Millwood). 2019;38(1):96–106.
- Medicare Payment Advisory Commission. Report to the Congress: Medicare payment policy [Internet]. Washington (DC): MedPAC; 2018 Mar. Chapter 3, Hospital inpatient and outpatient services; [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://www.medpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/import_data/scrape_files/docs/default-source/reports/mar18_medpac_ch3_sec.pdf

- Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Health at a glance 2021: OECD indicators [Internet]. Paris: OECD Publishing; 2021 [cited 2022 Sep 18]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/ae3016b9-en/1/3/7/1/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/ae3016b9-en&_csp_=ca413da5d44587bc56446341952c275e&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType=book
- Papanicolas I, Woskie LR, Jha AK. Health care spending in the United States and other high-income countries. JAMA. 2018;319(10):1024–39.
- Peterson-KFF Health System Tracker. National health spending explorer [Internet]. New York (NY): Peterson-KFF Health System Tracker; [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.health.systemtracker.org/health-spending-explorer/
- Sarnak DO, Squires D, Bishop S. Paying for prescription drugs around the world: why is the U.S. an outlier? [Internet]. New York (NY): Commonwealth Fund; 2017 Oct 5 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2017/oct/paying-prescription-drugs-around-world-why-us-outlier
- Sherman M, Curfman GD, Parent J, Wagner AK. Prescription medications account for one in four dollars spent by a commercial health plan. Health Affairs Blog [blog on the Internet]. 2018 Aug 24 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20180821.820628/full/
- Sisko AM, Keehan SP, Poisal JA, Cuckler GA, Smith SD, Madison AJ, et al. National health expenditure projections, 2018–27: economic and demographic trends drive spending and enrollment growth. Health Aff (Millwood). 2019;38(3):491–501.
- Tikkanen R. Multinational comparisons of health systems data, 2018 [Internet]. New York (NY): Commonwealth Fund; 2018 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/2018-12/Multinational%20Comparisons%20of%20Health%20 Systems%20Data%202018_RTikkanen_final.pdf
- Yu NL, Atteberry P, Bach PB. Spending on prescription drugs in the US: where does all the money go? Health Affairs Blog [blog on the Internet]. 2018 Jul 31 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20180726.670593/full/

PART 2: KEY DRIVERS OF HEALTH CARE SPENDING GROWTH

Provider Prices And Consolidation

- Anderson GF, Hussey P, Petrosyan V. It's still the prices, stupid: why the US spends so much on health care, and a tribute to Uwe Reinhardt. Health Aff (Millwood). 2019;38(1):87–95.
- Anderson GF, Reinhardt UE, Hussey PS, Petrosyan V. It's the prices, stupid: why the United States is so different from other countries. Health Aff (Millwood). 2003;22(3):89–105.
- Austin DR, Baker LC. Less physician practice competition is associated with higher prices paid for common procedures. Health Aff (Millwood). 2015;34(10):1753–60.
- Baker LC, Bundorf MK, Kessler DP. Vertical integration: hospital ownership of physician practices is associated with higher prices and spending. Health Aff (Millwood). 2014;33(5):756–63.

- Capps C, Dranove D. Hospital consolidation and negotiated PPO prices. Health Aff (Millwood). 2004;23(2):175–81.
- Collins SR. Testimony: status of U.S. health insurance coverage and the potential of recent congressional health reform bills to expand coverage and lower consumer costs [Internet]. New York (NY): Commonwealth Fund; 2019 Apr 30 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/2019/apr/testimony-health-insurance-recent-congressional-reform-bills
- Cooper Z, Craig S, Gaynor M, Harish NJ, Krumholz HM, Van Reenen J. Hospital prices grew substantially faster than physician prices for hospital-based care in 2007–14. Health Aff (Millwood). 2019;38(2):184–9.
- Cooper Z, Craig SV, Gaynor M, Van Reenen J. The price ain't right? Hospital prices and health spending on the privately insured. Q J Econ. 2019;134(1):51–107.
- Cutler DM. Testimony for Senate Committee on Health, Education, Labor and Pensions hearing July 31, 2018: reducing health care costs: decreasing administrative spending [Internet]. Boston (MA): Harvard University; 2018 July 31 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Cutler.pdf
- Dafny L, Ho K, Lee RS. The price effects of cross-market mergers: theory and evidence from the hospital industry. RAND J Econ. 2019;50(2):286–325.
- Dieleman JL, Squires E, Bui AL, Campbell M, Chapin A, Hamavid H, et al. Factors associated with increases in US health care spending, 1996–2013. JAMA. 2017;318(17):1668–78.
- Frakt A. Hospital mergers improve health? Evidence shows the opposite. New York Times [serial on the Internet]. 2019 Feb 11 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/02/11/upshot/hospital-mergers-hurt-health-care-quality.html
- Fulton BD. Health care market concentration trends in the United States: evidence and policy responses. Health Aff (Millwood). 2017;36(9):1530–8.
- Gaynor M, Town R. The impact of hospital consolidation [Internet]. Princeton (NJ): Robert Wood Johnson Foundation; 2012 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2012/06/the-impact-of-hospital-consolidation.html
- Gross T, Laugesen MJ. The price of health care: why is the United States an outlier? J Health Polit Policy Law. 2018;43(5):771–91.
- International Federation of Health Plans. 2017 comparative price report: international variation in medical and drug prices [Internet]. London: IFHP; 2019 Dec [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://healthcostinstitute.org/images/pdfs/iFHP_Report_2017_191212.pdf
- Papanicolas I, Woskie LR, Orlander D, Orav EJ, Jha AK. The relationship between health spending and social spending in high-income countries: how does the US compare? Health Aff (Millwood). 2019;38(9):1567–75.
- Scheffler RM, Arnold DR. Insurer market power lowers prices in numerous concentrated provider markets. Health Aff (Millwood). 2017;36(9):1539–46.

Administrative Spending

- Casalino LP, Gans D, Weber R, Cea M, Tuchovsky A, Bishop TF, et al. US physician practices spend more than \$15.4 billion annually to report quality measures. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016; 35(3):401–6.
- Casalino LP, Nicholson S, Gans DN, Hammons T, Morra D, Karrison T, et al. What does it cost physician practices to interact with health insurance plans? Health Aff (Millwood). 2009;28(4, Suppl):w533–43.
- Cutler DM. Testimony for Senate Committee on Health, Education, Labor and Pensions hearing July 31, 2018: reducing health care costs: decreasing administrative spending [Internet]. Boston (MA): Harvard University; 2018 July 31 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Cutler.pdf
- Cutler DM. The good and bad news of health care employment. JAMA. 2018;319(8):758-759.
- Cutler DM, Ly DP. The (paper) work of medicine: understanding international medical costs. J Econ Perspect. 2011;25(2):3–25.
- Frakt A. The astonishingly high administrative costs of U.S. health care. New York Times [serial on the Internet]. 2018 Jul 16 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/2018/07/16/upshot/costs-health-care-us.html
- Gee E, Spiro T. Excess administrative costs burden the U.S. health care system [Internet]. Washington (DC): Center for American Progress; 2019 Apr 8 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2019/04/03105330/Admin-Costs-brief.pdf
- Glied S, Ma S, Solis-Roman C. Where the money goes: the evolving expenses of the US health care system. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(7):1197–203.
- Gottlieb JD, Shapiro AH, Dunn A. The complexity of billing and paying for physician care. Health Aff (Millwood). 2018;37(4):619–26.
- Himmelstein DU, Jun M, Busse R, Chevreul K, Geissler A, Jeurissen P, et al. A comparison of hospital administrative costs in eight nations: US costs exceed all others by far. Health Aff (Millwood). 2014;33(9):1586–94.
- Jiwani A, Himmelstein D, Woolhandler S, Kahn JG. Billing and insurance–related administrative costs in United States' health care: synthesis of micro-costing evidence. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014;14:556.
- Kahn JG. Excess billing and insurance-related administrative costs. In: Yong PL, Saunders RS, Olsen LA, editors. The healthcare imperative: lowering costs and improving outcomes. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2010.
- Pozen A, Cutler DM. Medical spending differences in the United States and Canada: the role of prices, procedures, and administrative expenses. Inquiry. 2010;47(2):124–34.
- Sahni N, Kumar P, Levine E, Singhal S. The productivity imperative for healthcare delivery in the United States [Internet]. New York (NY): McKinsey and Company; 2019 Feb 27 [cited 2022 Oct 30]. Available from: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare-systems-and-services/ our-insights/the-productivity-imperative-for-healthcare-delivery-in-the-united-states

- Sinsky C, Colligan L, Li L, Prgomet M, Reynolds S, Goeders L, et al. Allocation of physician time in ambulatory practice: a time and motion study in 4 specialties. Ann Intern Med. 2016;165(11): 753–60.
- Tseng P, Kaplan RS, Richman BD, Shah MA, Schulman KA. Administrative costs associated with physician billing and insurance–related activities at an academic health care system. JAMA. 2018;319(7):691–7.
- Woolhandler S, Campbell T, Himmelstein DU. Costs of health care administration in the United States and Canada. N Engl J Med. 2003;349(8):768–75.
- Woolhandler S, Himmelstein DU. Administrative work consumes one-sixth of U.S. physicians' working hours and lowers their career satisfaction. Int J Health Serv. 2014;44(4):635–42.
- Woolhandler S, Himmelstein DU. Single-payer reform: the only way to fulfill the President's pledge of more coverage, better benefits, and lower costs. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(8):587–8.

Stakeholder Profits

- Advancing Medical Technology Association. Medical device industry facts [Internet]. Washington (DC): AdvaMed; [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.advamed.org/medical-device-industry-facts/
- American Medical Group Association. About the AMGA family [Internet]. Alexandria (VA): AMGA; [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.amga.org/about-amga/
- America's Health Insurance Plans. Where does your health care dollar go? [Internet]. Washington (DC): AHIP; 2022 [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://www.ahip.org/resources/where-does-your-health-care-dollar-go
- Bai G, Anderson GF. A more detailed understanding of factors associated with hospital profitability. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(5):889–97.
- Glied S, Ma S, Solis-Roman C. Where the money goes: the evolving expenses of the US health care system. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(7):1197–203.
- Government Accountability Office. Drug industry profits, research and development spending, and merger and acquisition deals [Internet]. Washington (DC): GAO; 2017 Nov [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-18-40.pdf
- Herman B. Health insurance is as big as Big Tech. Axios [serial on the Internet]. 2019 Feb 11 [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.axios.com/2019/02/11/health-insurers-pbms-revenue-big-tech
- Kaufman, Hall and Associates. National hospital flash report [Internet]. Chicago (IL): KaufmanHall; 2022 Mar [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://www.kaufmanhall.com/sites/default/files/2022-03/National-Hospital-Flash-Report-March-2022.pdf
- Medicare Payment Advisory Commission. Report to the Congress: Medicare payment policy [Internet]. Washington (DC): MedPAC; 2018 Mar. Chapter 7, An overview of the medical device industry; [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://www.medpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/import_data/scrape_files/docs/default-source/reports/jun17_ch7.pdf

- Merritt Hawkins. 2019 physician inpatient/outpatient revenue survey [Internet]. Dallas (TX): Merritt Hawkins; 2019 Feb 25 [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.merritthawkins.com/news-and-insights/thought-leadership/survey/2019-physician-inpatient-outpatient-revenue-survey/
- Miller M. What are non-profit health insurance companies? [Internet]. San Diego (CA): FirstQuote Health; 2022 Jul 6 [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://firstquotehealth.com/ health-insurance/news/non-profit-health-insurance
- National Association of Insurance Commissioners. U.S. health insurance industry: 2018 annual results [Internet]. Washington (DC): NAIC; 2019 [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://content.naic.org/sites/default/files/inline-files/topic_insurance_industry_snapshots_2018_health_ins_ind_report.pdf
- Sood N, Shih T, Nuys KV, Goldman DP. Follow the money: the flow of funds in the pharmaceutical distribution system. Health Affairs Blog [blog on the Internet]. 2017 Jun 13 [cited 2022 Nov 2]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20170613.060557/full/
- Which firms profit most from America's health-care system. The Economist Schumpeter [blog on the Internet]. 2018 Mar 15 [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.economist.com/business/2018/03/15/which-firms-profit-most-from-americas-health-care-system

Changes In Use: Quantity And Complexity

- Dieleman JL, Squires E, Bui AL, Campbell M, Chapin A, Hamavid H, et al. Factors associated with increases in US health care spending, 1996–2013. JAMA. 2017;318(17):1668–78.
- National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States, 2019 [Internet]. Hyattsville (MD): NCHS; 2021 [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hus/description.htm
- Smith S, Newhouse JP, Freeland MS. Income, insurance, and technology: why does health spending outpace economic growth? Health Aff (Millwood). 2009;28(5):1276–84.

Provider Regulatory Burden And Defensive Medicine

- American Hospital Association. Regulatory overload: assessing the regulatory burden on health systems, hospitals, and post-acute care providers [Internet]. Chicago (IL): AHA; 2017 Oct [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.aha.org/system/files/2018-02/regulatory-overload-report.pdf
- Carrier ER, Reschovsky JD, Katz DA, Mello MM. High physician concern about malpractice risk predicts more aggressive diagnostic testing in office-based practice. Health Aff (Millwood). 2013;32(8):1383–91.
- Einav L, Finkelstein A. What the cost of a trip to the vet tells us about why human health care is so expensive. Harvard Business Review [serial on the Internet]. 2017 Jan 10 [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://hbr.org/2017/01/what-the-cost-of-a-trip-to-the-vet-tells-us-about-why-human-health-care-is-so-expensive
- Jena AB, Schoemaker L, Bhattacharya J, Seabury SA. Physician spending and subsequent risk of malpractice claims: observational study. BMJ. 2015;351:h5516.

- Lincoln T. Medical malpractice payments remained at historic low in 2013 despite slight uptick [Internet]. Washington (DC): Public Citizen; 2014 Oct [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.citizen.org/wp-content/uploads/migration/medical-malpractice-2013.pdf
- Mello MM, Chandra A, Gawande AA, Studdert DM. National costs of the medical liability system. Health Aff (Millwood). 2010;29(9):1569–77.
- Rothberg MB, Class J, Bishop TF, Friderici J, Kleppel R, Lindenauer PK. The cost of defensive medicine on 3 hospital medicine services. JAMA Intern Med. 2014;174(11):1867–8.

Physician And Nurse Earnings

- Carroll A. What makes the US health care system so expensive—health care workers. The Incidental Economist [blog on the Internet]. 2010 Sep 28 [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://theincidentaleconomist.com/wordpress/what-makes-the-us-health-care-system-so-expensive-health-care-workers/
- Catton H. International council of nurses workforce forums [Internet]. Philadelphia (PA): International Centre on Nurse Migration; 2018 May [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/inline-files/2018_Pay%20data%20analysis.pdf
- Glied SA, Ma S, Pearlstein I. Understanding pay differentials among health professionals, nonprofessionals, and their counterparts in other sectors. Health Aff (Millwood). 2015;34(6):929–35.
- Glied S, Ma S, Solis-Roman C. Where the money goes: the evolving expenses of the US health care system. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(7):1197–203.
- Laugesen MJ, Glied SA. Higher fees paid to US physicians drive higher spending for physician services compared to other countries. Health Aff (Millwood). 2011;30(9):1647–56.
- Papanicolas I, Woskie LR, Jha AK. Health care spending in the United States and other high-income countries. JAMA. 2018;319(10):1024–39.

Appendix B. Supplemental Analysis Of Market Concentration And Health Services

Sherry Glied for the Council on Health Care Spending and Value

We estimate the share of areas and populations in the US that have noncompetitive, potentially competitive, and currently competitive markets for three types of health services: inpatient hospital and specialist and primary care. We define a market as a Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). An MSA is defined by the Census Bureau as an area that comprises a substantial core population (an urbanized area with a population of at least 50,000) and also includes neighboring communities that are integrated with that core (as measured by commuting patterns). Areas with populations below 50,000 that do not share substantial commuting ties to any MSA are classified by the Census Bureau as non-MSA areas. Using data from the Census Bureau and from the Nicholas C. Petris Center at the University of California Berkeley (as described by Brent Fulton and colleagues; see reference 71 in the text), we calculate that about 45,500,000 Americans, or 14 percent of the US population, live in non-MSA areas.

We categorize markets in each MSA into one of three categories on the basis of population size and Herfindahl-Hirschman Index. We define an area as being noncompetitive if its population is not large enough to support four or more competing hospitals or—in some of our analyses—medical groups (that is, large enough to achieve a Herfindahl-Hirschman Index below 2,500). The population cutoff for each category of service varies. For hospital markets, we assume a population size cutoff of 400,000 (areas with populations below 400,000, including all non-MSA areas, are defined as noncompetitive). There are currently zero MSAs with a population size of fewer than 400,000 people for which the hospital Herfindahl-Hirschman Index is below 2,500, lending support to our population size cutoff. We use a cutoff of 200,000 for specialist physician markets. Of 163 MSAs with a population size of fewer than 200,000 people, only eleven have a specialist market Herfindahl-Hirschman Index below 2,500. We use a population cutoff of 50,000 for primary care markets, so all MSAs have a population size above the cutoff. We do not have Herfindahl-Hirschman Index estimates for non-MSA areas, so we cannot estimate how many non-MSA areas currently have competitive primary care markets despite their low population size. A potentially competitive market is one in which the population size is above the noncompetitive threshold but the current Herfindahl-Hirschman Index in a given category is above 2,500. We define a competitive market as one with a Herfindahl-Hirschman Index below 2,500.

In the four tables below, data on market Herfindahl-Hirschman Indexes and population size by MSA are drawn from the 2015 estimates provided by the Petris Center. Market shares for hospitals were calculated on the basis of inpatient admissions. For specialists, separate specialist Herfindahl-Hirschman Indexes for cardiologists, oncologists and hematologists, radiologists, and orthopedists were aggregated and weighted by the number of physicians in the specialty.

Sherry Glied is a member of the Council on Health Care Spending and Value and dean of the Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service, New York University. Glied thanks Mark Weiss for his help with this analysis and Richard Scheffler of the Petris Center at the University of California Berkeley for use of the data.

APPENDIX B TABLE 1

Number and share of markets and US population in each market category, hospitals (400,000 population cutoff for markets that cannot be competitive)

Market category	Markets	Share of MSAs (excludes non-MSA areas), %	Population	Share of population, %
1: Cannot be competitive	249 MSAs and all non-MSA areas	65	91,023,879	28
2: Potentially competitive	95 MSAs	25	80,500,166	25
3: Currently competitive	38 MSA	10	149,111,118	47

NOTE: MSA is Metropolitan Statistical Area—an urbanized area with a population of at least 50,000 that includes neighboring communities that are integrated with that urban core, as measured by commuting patterns.

APPENDIX B TABLE 2

Number and share of markets and US population in each market category, hospitals (200,000 population cutoff for markets that cannot be competitive)

Market category	Markets	Share of MSAs (excludes non-MSA areas), %	Population	Share of population, %
1: Cannot be competitive	163 MSAs and all non-MSA areas	43	67,094,611 (includes 45,482,635 in non-MSA areas)	21
2: Potentially competitive	181 MSAs	47	104,429,434	33
3: Currently competitive	38 MSAs	10	149,111,118	47

NOTES: MSA is Metropolitan Statistical Area—an urbanized area with a population of at least 50,000 that includes neighboring communities that are integrated with that urban core, as measured by commuting patterns. Percentages may add up to more than 100 percent because of rounding.

APPENDIX B TABLE 3

Number and share of markets and US population in each market category, specialist physicians (200,000 population cutoff for markets that cannot be competitive)

Market category	Markets	Share of MSAs (excludes non-MSA areas), %	Population	Share of population, %
1: Cannot be competitive	163 MSAs and all non-MSA areas	43	67,094,611 (includes 45,482,635 in non-MSA areas)	21
2: Potentially competitive	111 MSAs	29	47,978,994	15
3: Currently competitive	108 MSAs	28	207,367,658	65

NOTES: MSA is Metropolitan Statistical Area—an urbanized area with a population of at least 50,000 that includes neighboring communities that are integrated with that urban core, as measured by commuting patterns. Percentages may add up to more than 100 percent because of rounding.

APPENDIX B TABLE 4

Number and share of markets and US population in each market category, primary care physicians (50,000 population cutoff for markets that cannot be competitive)

Market type	Markets	Share of MSAs (excludes non-MSA areas), %	Population	Share of population, %
1: Cannot be competitive	All non-MSA areas	0	45,482,635 (all residing in non-MSA areas)	14
2: Potentially competitive	156 MSAs	41	59,770,843	19
3: Currently competitive	226 MSAs	59	215,381,685	67

NOTE: MSA is Metropolitan Statistical Area—an urbanized area with a population of at least 50,000 that includes neighboring communities that are integrated with that urban core, as measured by commuting patterns.

Appendix C. Health Care Spending Growth Targets In Massachusetts And Maryland

To address health care spending that was historically higher than the national average, Massachusetts established a Health Policy Commission in 2012. The commission sets a benchmark that represents a shared commitment among all payers in the state to keep health care cost growth at pace with overall economic growth. From 2013 to 2017, growth in Massachusetts averaged 3.4 percent, which is below the benchmark of 3.6 percent. In the next two years, however, growth exceeded the benchmark, which had been lowered to 3.1 percent by statute, coming in at 3.6 percent in 2018 and 4.1 percent in 2019. Detailed analysis of the 2019 spending drivers has prompted the commission to undertake enforcement action against a specific provider in the state; it is not yet clear what effect this will have on trends.

In Maryland, a state governing body sets annual global budgets for all hospitals in the state. Hospitals must adjust prices and negotiate with all payers on the basis of projected volumes to stay within this budget. A 2019 CMS report on a five-year span of the program found that Medicare spending for all types of care grew by 2.8 percent less than in a matched comparison group of hospital markets in other states, including 4.1 percent slower for total hospital expenditures. The additional reduction in total Medicare spending was due to savings on professional (physician) services in hospital settings and postacute care—areas that are not subject to the global budgets. Commercial payers also saw a slowing of growth in hospital expenditures, but unlike Medicare, they did not see such slowing in overall per capita spending growth because of increases in spending on professional services.

References

- i. Waugh L, McCarthy D. How the Massachusetts Health Policy Commission is fostering a statewide commitment to contain health care spending growth [Internet]. New York (NY): Commonwealth Fund; 2020 Mar 5 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/case-study/2020/mar/massachusetts-health-policy-commission-spending-growth
- ii. Center for Health Information and Analysis. Performance of the Massachusetts health care system: annual report [Internet]. Boston (MA): CHIA; 2022 Mar [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.chiamass.gov/assets/2022-annual-report/2022-Annual-Report-Rev-2.pdf
- iii. Haber S, Beil H, Morrison M, Greenwald L, Perry R, Jiang L, et al. Evaluation of the Maryland all-payer model: volume 1: final report [Internet]. Waltham (MA): RTI International; 2019 Nov [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Contract No.: HHSM-500-2010-00021I. Available from: https://downloads.cms.gov/files/md-allpayer-finalevalrpt.pdf

VI. Endnotes

- 1. Iglehart JK. Are "unsustainable trends" finally coming to a stop? Health Aff (Millwood). 2013; 32(5):830–830.
- 2. Weil A. Health Affairs launches Council on Health Care Spending and Value. Health Affairs Blog [blog on the Internet]. 2018 July 12 [cited 2022 Sep 18]. Available from: https://www.health_affairs-em-launches-council-health-care-spending-and-value
- 3. Health Affairs. Council on Health Care Spending and Value [home page on the Internet]. Washington (DC): Health Affairs; [cited 2022 Sep 18]. Available from: https://www.health.affairs.org/council-on-health-care-spending-and-value
- 4. Social Security Advisory Board. The unsustainable cost of health care [Internet]. Washington (DC): SSAB; 2009 Sep 8 [cited 2022 Sep 18]. Available from: https://www.ssab.gov/research/the-unsustainable-cost-of-health-care/
- 5. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Health at a glance 2021: OECD indicators. Health expenditure in relation to GDP [Internet]. Paris: OECD Publishing; 2021 [cited 2022 Sep 18]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/ae3016b9-en/1/3/7/1/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/ae3016b9-en&_csp_=ca413da5d44587bc56446">https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/ae3016b9-en/1/3/7/1/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/ae3016b9-en&_csp_=ca413da5d44587bc56446">https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/ae3016b9-en/1/3/7/1/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/ae3016b9-en&_csp_=ca413da5d44587bc56446" 341952c275e&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType=book
- 6. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. National health expenditure data: projected [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): CMS; 2022 Apr 27 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/NationalHealthAccountsProjected
- 7. Martin AB, Hartman M, Lassman D, Catlin A, The National Health Expenditure Accounts Team. National health care spending in 2019: steady growth for the fourth consecutive year. Health Aff (Millwood). 2021;40(1):14–24.
- 8. Hartman M, Martin AB, Washington B, Catlin A, The National Health Expenditure Accounts Team. National health care spending in 2020: growth driven by federal spending in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Health Aff (Millwood). 2022;41(1):13–25.
- 9. Weaver MR, Joffe J, Ciarametaro M, Dubois RW, Dunn A, Singh A, et al. Health care spending effectiveness: estimates suggest that spending improved US health from 1996 to 2016. Health Aff (Millwood). 2022;41(7):994–1004.
- 10. Laughlin L, Anderson A, Martinez A, Gayfield A. 22 million employed in health care fight against COVID-19 [Internet]. Washington (DC): Census Bureau; 2021 Apr 5 [cited 2022 Sep 18]. Available from: https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2021/04/who-are-our-health-care-workers.html
- 11. Skinner J, Cahan E, Fuchs VR. Stabilizing health care's share of the GDP. N Engl J Med. 2022;386(8):709–11.

- 12. Kurani N, Wager E. How does the quality of the U.S. health system compare to other countries? [Internet]. New York (NY): Peterson-KFF Health System Tracker; 2021 Sep 30 [cited 2022 Oct 10]. Available from: https://www.healthsystemtracker.org/chart-collection/quality-u-s-healthcare-system-compare-countries/
- 13. Dieleman JL, Chen C, Crosby SW, Liu A, McCracken D, Pollock IA, et al. US health care spending by race and ethnicity, 2002–2016. JAMA. 2021;326(7):649–59.
- 14. Nanney MS, Myers SL Jr, Xu M, Kent K, Durfee T, Allen ML. The economic benefits of reducing racial disparities in health: the case of Minnesota. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16 (5):742.
- 15. Turner A. The business case for racial equity: a strategy for growth [Internet]. East Battle Creek (MI): W. K. Kellogg Foundation; 2018 [cited 10 Oct 2022]. Available from: https://wkkf.issuelab.org/resources/30463/30463.pdf
- 16. Health Affairs Research Brief: The role of administrative waste in excess US health spending. Health Affairs [serial on the Internet]. 2022 Oct 6 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hpb20220909.830296/full/
- 17. Health Affairs Research Brief: The role of prices in excess US health spending. Health Affairs [serial on the Internet]. 2022 Jun 9 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.health.affairs.org/content/briefs/role-prices-excess-us-health-spending
- 18. Health Affairs Research Brief: The role of clinical waste in excess US health spending. Health Affairs [serial on the Internet]. 2022 Jun 9 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/content/briefs/role-clinical-waste-excess-us-health-spending
- 19. Arthur Ashe Institute for Urban Health [home page on the Internet]. Brooklyn (NY): The Institute; [cited 2022 Oct 28]. Available from: https://www.arthurasheinstitute.org/
- 20. Hood CM, Gennuso KP, Swain GR, Catlin BB. County health rankings: relationships between determinant factors and health outcomes. Am J Prev Med. 2016;50(2):129–35.
- 21. Solar O, Irwin A. A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 Jul 13 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241500852
- 22. World Health Organization. Social determinants of health [Internet]. Geneva: WHO; [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health
- 23. Papanicolas I, Woskie LR, Orlander D, Orav EJ, Jha AK. The relationship between health spending and social spending in high-income countries: how does the US compare? Health Aff (Millwood). 2019;38(9):1567–75.
- 24. Berwick DM, Hackbarth AD. Eliminating waste in US health care. JAMA. 2012;307(14):1513-6.
- 25. ABIM Foundation. Choosing Wisely [home page on the Internet]. Philadelphia (PA): ABIM Foundation; [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.choosingwisely.org/
- 26. Shrank WH, Rogstad TL, Parekh N. Waste in the US health care system: estimated costs and potential for savings. JAMA. 2019;322(15):1501–9.

- 27. Yu NL, Atteberry P, Bach PB. Spending on prescription drugs in the US: where does all the money go? Health Affairs Blog [blog on the Internet]. 2018 Jul 31 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20180726.670593/full/
- 28. Fein AJ. The top pharmacy benefit managers of 2020: vertical integration drives consolidation [Internet]. Philadelphia (PA): Drug Channels; 2021 Apr 6 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.drugchannels.net/2021/04/the-top-pharmacy-benefit-managers-pbms.html
- 29. Racism and health. Health Aff (Millwood). 2022;41(2):157-313.
- 30. Poisal JA, Sisko AM, Cuckler GA, Smith SD, Keehan SP, Fiore JA, et al. National health expenditure projections, 2021–30: growth to moderate as COVID-19 impacts wane. Health Aff (Millwood). 2022;41(4):474–86.
- 31. Boards of Trustees, Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds. 2022 annual report of the Boards of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds [Internet]. Washington (DC): Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; 2022 Jun 2 [cited 2022 Oct 13]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/files/document/2022-medicare-trustees-report.pdf
- 32. Galvin G. Nearly 1 in 5 health care workers have quit their jobs during the pandemic. Morning Consult [serial on the internet]. 2021 Oct 4 [cited 2022 Oct 13]. Available from: https://morningconsult.com/2021/10/04/health-care-workers-series-part-2-workforce/
- 33. Turner A. Perspective: 2021 health employment—a tale of three settings [Internet]. Berkeley (CA): Altarum; 2022 Jan 19 [cited 2022 Oct 13]. Available from: https://altarum.org/news/2021-health-employment-tale-three-settings
- 34. Seys D, Wu AW, Van Gerven E, Vleugels A, Euwema M, Panella M, et al. Health care professionals as second victims after adverse events: a systematic review. Eval Health Prof. 2013;36(2):135–62.
- 35. Busch IM, Moretti F, Purgato M, Barbui C, Wu AW, Rimondini M. Psychological and psychosomatic symptoms of second victims of adverse events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Patient Saf. 2020;16(2):e61–74.
- 36. Woolhandler S, Himmelstein DU. Single-payer reform: the only way to fulfill the President's pledge of more coverage, better benefits, and lower costs. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(8):587–8.
- 37. Jiwani A, Himmelstein D, Woolhandler S, Kahn JG. Billing and insurance-related administrative costs in United States' health care: synthesis of micro-costing evidence. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014;14:556.
- 38. Kahn JG. Excess billing and insurance-related administrative costs. In: Yong PL, Saunders RS, Olsen LA, editors. The healthcare imperative: lowering costs and improving outcomes. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2010.
- 39. Cutler DM. Testimony for Senate Committee on Health, Education, Labor and Pensions hearing July 31, 2018: reducing health care costs: decreasing administrative spending [Internet]. Boston (MA): Harvard University; 2018 July 31 [cited 2022 Oct 18]. Available from: https://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Cutler.pdf

- 40. Tollen L, Keating E, Weil A. How administrative spending contributes to excess US health spending. Health Affairs Blog [blog on the Internet]. 2020 Feb 20 [cited 2022 Oct 19]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20200218.375060/full/
- 41. Scheinker D, Richman BD, Milstein A, Schulman KA. Reducing administrative costs in US health care: assessing single payer and its alternatives. Health Serv Res. 2021;56(4):615–25.
- 42. Sahni NR, Mishra P, Carrus B, Cutler DM. Administrative simplification: how to save a quarter-trillion dollars in US healthcare [Internet]. Detroit (MI): McKinsey and Company; 2021 Oct 20 [cited 2022 Oct 19]. Available from: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare
- 43. Sahni NR, Carrus B, Cutler DM. Administrative simplification and the potential for saving a quarter-trillion dollars in health care. JAMA. 2021;326(17):1677–8.
- 44. Sinsky CA, Brown RL, Stillman MJ, Linzer M. COVID-related stress and work intentions in a sample of US health care workers. Mayo Clin Proc Innov Qual Outcomes. 2021;5(6):1165–73.
- 45. Frogner BK, Dill JS. Tracking turnover among health care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. JAMA Health Forum. 2022;3(4):e220371.
- 46. Dzau VJ, Kirch D, Murthy V, Nasca T, editors. National plan for health workforce well-being. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2022.
- 47. Shanafelt TD, West CP, Dyrbye LN, Trockel M, Tutty M, Wang H, et al. Changes in burnout and satisfaction with work-life integration in physicians during the first 2 years of the COVID-19 pandemic. Mayo Clin Proc [serial on the Internet]. 2022 Sep 13 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.mayoclinicproceedings.org/article/S0025-6196(22)00515-8/fulltext
- 48. Medical Group Management Association. Even as COVID-19 pandemic eases, a physician burnout epidemic continues [Internet]. Englewood (CO): MGMA; 2022 Oct 27 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.mgma.com/data/data-stories/even-as-covid-19-pandemic-eases,-a-physician-burno
- 49. CAQH. The hidden causes of inaccurate provider directories [Internet]. Washington (DC): CAQH; 2019 [cited 2022 Oct 19]. Available from: https://www.caqh.org/sites/default/files/explorations/CAQH-hidden-causes-provider-directories-whitepaper.pdf
- 50. CAQH. Why provider credentialing is a necessary hassle and a vital safeguard [Internet]. Washington (DC): CAQH; 2021 Apr [cited 2022 Oct 19]. Available from: https://www.caqh.org/about/newsletter/2021/why-provider-credentialing-necessary-hassle-and-vital-safeguard
- 51. Cutler DM. Reducing administrative costs in U.S. health care [Internet]. Washington (DC): Hamilton Project; 2020 Mar [cited 2022 Oct 19]. Available from: https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Cutler_PP_LO.pdf
- 52. CAQH. 2020 CAQH Index: closing the gap: the industry continues to improve, but opportunities for automation remain [Internet]. Washington (DC): CAQH; 2021 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.caqh.org/sites/default/files/explorations/index/2020-caqh-index.pdf

- 53. America's Health Insurance Plans [Internet]. Washington (DC): AHIP. Press release, New fast PATH initiative aims to improve prior authorizations for patients and doctors; 2020 Jan 6 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.ahip.org/news/press-releases/new-fast-path-initiative-aims-to-improve-prior-authorization-for-patients-and-doctors
- 54. Robeznieks A. Physicians to HHS: here's how to improve prior authorization [Internet]. Chicago (IL): American Medical Association; 2020 Sep 11 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.ama-assn.org/practice-management/prior-authorization/physicians-hhs-here-s-how-improve-prior-authorization
- 55. American Hospital Association, America's Health Insurance Plans, American Medical Association, American Public Health Association, BlueCross BlueShield Association, Medical Group Management Association. Consensus statement on improving the prior authorization process [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.ama-assn.org/sites/ama-assn.org/files/corp/media-browser/public/arc-public/prior-authorization-consensus-statement.pdf
- 56. King R. Biden admin appears to withdraw final rule aimed at streamlining prior authorization. Fierce Healthcare [serial on the Internet]. 2021 Feb 17 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/payer/biden-admin-appears-to-withdraw-final-rule-aimed-at-streamlining-prior-authorization
- 57. Network for Excellence in Health Innovation. NEHI spearheads coalition to automate prior authorization [Internet]. Boston (MA): NEHI; 2022 July 27 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.nehi-us.org/news/614-nehi-spearheads-coalition-to-automate-prior-authorization/view
- 58. Pestaina K, Pollitz K. Examining prior authorization in health insurance [Internet]. San Francisco (CA): Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2022 May 20 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.kff.org/policy-watch/examining-prior-authorization-in-health-insurance/
- 59. Casalino LP, Gans D, Weber R, Cea M, Tuchovsky A, Bishop TF, et al. US physician practices spend more than \$15.4 billion annually to report quality measures. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(3):401–6.
- 60. Anderson GF, Hussey P, Petrosyan V. It's still the prices, stupid: why the US spends so much on health care, and a tribute to Uwe Reinhardt. Health Aff (Millwood). 2019;38(1):87–95.
- 61. Health Care Cost Institute. 2020 health care cost and utilization report [Internet]. Washington (DC): HCCI; 2022 May [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://healthcostinstitute.org/ images//pdfs/HCCI_2020_Health_Care_Cost_and_Utilization_Report.pdf
- 62. Dieleman JL, Squires E, Bui AL, Campbell M, Chapin A, Hamavid H, et al. Factors associated with increases in US health care spending, 1996–2013. JAMA. 2017;318(17):1668–78.
- 63. Schwartz K, Lopez E, Rae M, Neuman T. What we know about provider consolidation [Internet]. San Francisco (CA): Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2020 Sep 2 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.kff.org/health-costs/issue-brief/what-we-know-about-provider-consolidation/

- 64. Congressional Budget Office. The prices that commercial health insurers and Medicare pay for hospitals' and physicians' services [Internet]. Washington (DC): CBO; 2022 Jan 20 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.cbo.gov/publication/57422
- 65. Selden TM. Differences between public and private hospital payment rates narrowed, 2012–16. Health Aff (Millwood). 2020;39(1):94–9.
- 66. Whaley CM, Briscombe B, Kerber R, O'Neill B, Kofner A. Nationwide evaluation of health care prices paid by private health plans: findings from round 3 of an employer-led transparency initiative [Internet]. Santa Monica (CA): RAND Corporation; 2020 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR4394.html
- 67. Frakt AB. How much do hospitals cost shift? A review of the evidence. Milbank Q. 2011;89(1):90–130.
- 68. White C. Contrary to cost-shift theory, lower Medicare hospital payment rates for inpatient care lead to lower private payment rates. Health Aff (Millwood). 2013;32(5):935–43.
- 69. Frakt AB. The end of hospital cost shifting and the quest for hospital productivity. Health Serv Res. 2014;49(1):1–10.
- 70. Federal Trade Commission, Department of Justice. Horizontal merger guidelines [Internet]. Washington (DC): FTC; 2010 Aug 19 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.ftc.gov/sites/default/files/attachments/merger-review/100819hmg.pdf
- 71. Fulton BD. Health care market concentration trends in the United States: evidence and policy responses. Health Aff (Millwood). 2017;36(9):1530–8.
- 72. White House. Executive order on promoting competition in the American economy [Internet]. Washington (DC): White House; 2021 Jul 9 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/07/09/executive-order-on-promoting-competition-in-the-american-economy/
- 73. Weinberger E. Biden seeks "historic" funding jumps for competition watchdogs. Bloomberg Law [serial on the Internet]. 2022 Mar 28 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://news.bloomberglaw.com/antitrust/biden-seeks-historic-funding-jumps-for-competition-watchdogs-1
- 74. Department of Justice. Antitrust division (ATR) FY 2022 budget request at a glance [Internet]. Washington (DC): DOJ; 2022 Jan 20 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.justice.gov/jmd/page/file/1398981/download
- 75. US House of Representatives, Appropriations Committee [Internet]. Washington (DC): House of Representatives. Press release, Appropriations Committee releases fiscal year 2023 financial services and general government funding bill; 2022 Jun 15 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://appropriations.house.gov/news/press-releases/appropriations-committee-releases-fiscal-year-2023-financial-services-and
- 76. Berenson RA, Murray RB. How price regulation is needed to advance market competition. Health Aff (Millwood). 2022;41(1):26–34.

- 77. Chernew ME, Dafny LS, Pany MJ. A proposal to cap provider prices and price growth in the commercial health-care market [Internet]. Washington (DC): Hamilton Project; 2020 Mar 10 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.hamiltonproject.org/assets/files/CDP_PP_WEB_FINAL.pdf
- 78. Gudiksen KL, Montague AD, King JS. Mitigating the price impacts of health care provider consolidation [Internet]. New York (NY): Milbank Memorial Fund; 2021 Sep 23 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.milbank.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Mitigating-the-Price-Impacts-of-Health-Care-Provider-Consolidation_2.pdf
- 79. Interstate Medical Licensure Compact Commission. Information for states [Internet]. Littleton (CO): IMLCC; [cited 2022 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.imlcc.org/information-for-states/
- 80. Bell DL, Katz MH. Modernize medical licensing, and credentialing, too—lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Intern Med. 2021;181(3):312–5.
- 81. Furukawa MF, Kimmey L, Jones DJ, Machta RM, Guo J, Rich EC. Consolidation of providers into health systems increased substantially, 2016–18. Health Aff (Millwood). 2020;39(8):1321–5.
- 82. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Medical loss ratio [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): CMS; [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Programs-and-Initiatives/Health-Insurance-Market-Reforms/Medical-Loss-Ratio
- 83. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Hospital price transparency [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): CMS; 2022 Jun 8 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/hospital-price-transparency
- 84. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Transparency in coverage [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): CMS; 2022 Jan 31 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/health-plan-price-transparency
- 85. Maryland Health Services Cost Review Commission [home page on the Internet]. Baltimore (MD): HSCRC; [cited 2022 Oct 26]. Available from: https://hscrc.maryland.gov/Pages/default.aspx
- 86. Massachusetts Health Policy Commission [home page on the Internet]. Boston (MA); HPC [cited 2022 Oct 26]. Available from: https://www.mass.gov/orgs/massachusetts-health-policy-commission
- 87. Melnick G. Health care cost commissions: how eight states address cost growth [Internet]. Oakland (CA): California Health Care Foundation; 2022 Apr [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.chcf.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/HealthCareCostCommissionstates AddressCostGrowth.pdf
- 88. Bailit M. What is driving health care spending upward in states with cost growth targets? Health Affairs Forefront [blog on the Internet]. 2022 Aug 9 [cited 2022 Oct 26]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/content/forefront/driving-health-care-spending-upward-states-cost-growth-targets
- 89. Milbank Memorial Fund. Peterson-Milbank Program for Sustainable Health Care Costs [Internet]. New York (NY): Milbank Memorial Fund; [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.milbank.org/focus-areas/total-cost-of-care/peterson-milbank/

- 90. Clark B, Puthiyath MS. Can state prescription drug affordability boards address high-cost drug prices? [Internet]. New York (NY): Commonwealth Fund; 2022 Oct 11 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/can-state-prescription-drug-affordability-boards-address-high-cost-drug-prices
- 91. LaGanga S. West Virginia becomes the first state to lower patient costs by sharing the savings [Internet]. Washington (DC): Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America; 2021 Apr 20 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://catalyst.phrma.org/west-virginia-becomes-the-first-state-to-lower-patient-costs-by-sharing-the-savings
- 92. Carman KG, Dworsky M, Heins S, Schwam D, Shelton S, Whaley C. The history, promise, and challenges of state all payer claims databases: background memo for the state all payer claims database advisory committee to the Department of Labor [Internet]. Santa Monica (CA): RAND Corporation; 2021 Jun 2 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/private/pdf/265666/apcd-background-report.pdf
- 93. Flaherty G, Kanneganti D. Ensuring health care cost growth targets promote health equity [Internet]. New York (NY): Milbank Memorial Fund; 2022 Apr 13 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.milbank.org/2022/04/ensuring-health-care-cost-growth-targets-promote-health-equity/
- 94. Lipson DJ, Berk S, Lane K, Block R. How states are holding payers and providers accountable for health cost growth. Health Affairs Forefront [blog on the Internet] 2022 Oct 31 [cited 2022 Oct 31]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/content/forefront/states-holding-payers-and-providers-accountable-health-cost-growth-evidence-date-and
- 95. Waugh L, McCarthy D. How the Massachusetts health policy commission is fostering a statewide commitment to contain health care spending growth [Internet]. New York (NY): Commonwealth Fund; 2020 Mar 5 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/case-study/2020/mar/massachusetts-health-policy-commission-spending-growth
- 96. Massachusetts Health Policy Commission. Performance improvement plan—Mass General Brigham [Internet]. Boston (MA): The Commission; 2022 [cited 2022 Nov 1]. Available from: https://www.mass.gov/service-details/performance-improvement-plan-mass-general-brigham
- 97. Health Care Payment Learning and Action Network. APM framework [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): HCPLAN; 2017 Jul 11 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://hcp-lan.org/apm-framework/
- 98. Health Affairs Research Brief: Value-based payment as a tool to address excess US health spending. Health Affairs [serial on the Internet]. 2022 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hpb20221014.526546/full/
- 99. Brooks-LaSure C, Fowler E, Seshamani M, Tsai D. Innovation at the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services: a vision for the next 10 years. Health Affairs Blog [blog on the Internet]. 2021 Aug 12 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/ 10.1377/forefront.20210812.211558/full/

- 100. Chernew ME, Conway PH, Frakt AB. Transforming Medicare's payment systems: progress shaped by the ACA. Health Aff (Millwood). 2020;39(3):413–20.
- 101. Medicare Payment Advisory Commission. Report to the Congress: Medicare and the health care delivery system [Internet]. Washington (DC): MedPAC; 2018 Jun [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.medpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/import_data/scrape_files/docs/default-source/reports/jun18_medpacreporttocongress_rev_nov2019_note_sec.pdf
- 102. Cavanaugh S, Cohen MK, Mostashari F. We have a national strategy for accountable care, so what's next? Health Affairs Forefront [blog on the Internet]. 2022 Jun 30 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20220623.466165/full/
- 103. Jacobs D, Rawal P, Fowler L, Seshamani M. Expanding accountable care's reach among Medicare beneficiaries. N Engl J Med. 2022;387(2):99–102.
- 104. Seshamani M, Jacobs DB. Leveraging Medicare to advance health equity. JAMA. 2022; 327(18):1757–8.
- 105. Seshamani M, Fowler E, Brooks-LaSure C. Building on the CMS strategic vision: working together for a stronger Medicare. Health Affairs Forefront [blog on the Internet]. 2022 Jan 11 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront .20220110.198444/full/
- 106. Health Care Payment Learning and Action Network. APM measurement effort 2020 [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): HCPLAN; [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://hcp-lan.org/apm-measurement-effort/2020-2021-apm/2021-infographic/
- 107. Crook HL, Zheng J, Bleser WK, Whitaker RG, Masand J, Saunders RS. How are payment reforms addressing social determinants of health? Policy implications and next steps [Internet]. New York (NY): Milbank Memorial Fund; 2021 Feb [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://www.milbank.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Duke-SDOH-and-VBP-Issue-Brief_v3-1.pdf
- 108. Agrawal S, Chen AH, Price G, Perla R. To advance a national health and equity infrastructure, measure drivers of health. Health Affairs Forefront [blog on the Internet]. 2022 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Oct 26]. Available from: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20220628.771279/full/
- 109. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Medicare program; hospital inpatient prospective payment systems for acute care hospitals and the long-term care hospital prospective payment system and proposed policy changes and fiscal year 2023 rates; quality programs and Medicare promoting interoperability program requirements for eligible hospitals and critical access hospitals; costs incurred for qualified and non-qualified deferred compensation plans; and changes to hospital and critical access hospital conditions of participation [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): CMS; 2022 May 10 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://public-inspection.federalregister.gov/2022-08268.pdf
- 110. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. ACO REACH [Internet]. Baltimore (MD): CMS; 2022 Aug 25 [cited 2022 Oct 21]. Available from: https://innovation.cms.gov/innovation-models/aco-reach

